Abstract

The physicochemical parameters of eight Iranian honey samples from different botanical origins were characterized in this study. Differences in pH, moisture, sugar profiles and phenolic profiles were observed. Iranian honeys contain different carbohydrate structures. The relationship between different parameters such as phenolic concentration, colour, antioxidant properties, moisture content and hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) content were established. High correlations between total phenolic content and radical scavenging properties, moisture content and antioxidant properties were also observed for all the samples. The correlation between HMF content and honey colour was observed within the eight types of honeys. Some antioxidants are potential floral origin markers of honey and Determination of polyphenolics find to be suitable for quality control and biochemistry analysis of natural honey samples. They contribute to physicochemical properties of honey and fulfill human health.

A high positive correlation was found between the two assays for antioxidant activities of honeys, and their phenolic content, indicating the contribution of phenolics in the antioxidant activities of honey although there may be other minor factors contributing to the antioxidant effects of honey. There is linear correlation between water content and antioxidant activities. The antioxidant activities and phenolic content differed amongst the honey samples possible due to their different floral sources.

The Iranian honey also showed potential anti-proliferative effects against the breast cancer cells, MCF-7 and MDA MB 231. Saffron honey showed strong anti-proliferative effects and its high phenolic content could be a contributing factor. When the honey sample was added to broilers' feed in a feeding study, there was no significant difference in feed intake, weight gain, feed to gain ratio and weight of gastrointestinal tract, abdominal

i

fat, liver, spleen and pancreas in the animal model.

Several chromatographic techniques were applied to separate and detect the presence of polyphenols in the honey samples. The most important classes of antioxidant polyphenols are flavanone, flavone, flavan, flavonols and phenolic acids. The characterization of polyphenols depends on the method of identification. These polyphenols can be considered as a botanical marker and was tentatively characterised by HPLC-DAD, HPLCMS/MS, GCMS and LC-MSTOF. This study shows that ITTOF is the best instrument for analysis of polyphenols in the honeys.

The results obtained indicated possible markers for honey type authentication by different analysis. Apigenin (41.74 ng/100 μ l) and quercetin (3.38 ng/100 μ l) as potential bioactive markers present in saffron honey are found in high quantities. Available literature indicates that no previous studies on antioxidant property have been done on Iranian honeys. This is the first study to evaluate the antioxidant properties of selected Iranian honeys and may provide useful data for their potential medicinal uses.

Abstrak

Kajian ini menganalisa parameter fizikokimia lapan sampel madu Iran dengan asalan botani yang berlainan. Perbezaan pH, lembapan, profil gula dan profil fenolik daripada sampel madu dianalisa. Madu Iran mempunyai struktur karbohidrat yang berbeza. Hubungan di antara parameter berlainan, iaitu kepekatan fenolik, warna, sifat antioksida, lembapan dan kandungan hidroksimetilfurfural (HMF) di analisa. Korelasi tinggi di antara jumlah kandungan fenolik dan sifat penghapus radikal, kadungan lembapan dan aktiviti antioksidan daripada semua sampel dilihat. Korelasi antara kandungan HMF dan warna daripada lapan sampel madu juga didapati.

Korelasi positif yang tinggi didapati antara dua asei pa aktiviti antioksidan dan kandungan fenolik madu, menunjukkan adanya sumbangan daripada kandungan fenolik terhadap aktiviti antioksidan madu. Meskipun demikian, faktor lain pun dijangka berperanan terhadap kesan antioksidan madu. Korelasi linear didapati antara kandungan air dan aktiviti antioksidan. Aktiviti antioksidan dan kandungan fenolik daripada setiap sampel madu diandaikan berlainan oleh sebab asal botani yang berbeza.

Madu Iran juga menunjukkan kesan anti-proliferatif terhadap sel kanser payu dara, MCF-7 dan MDA MB 231. Madu saffron menunjukkan kesan anti-proliferatif yang kuat dan kandungan fenoliknya yang tinggi mungkin menyumbang kepada kesan ini. Apabila sampel madu ditambah kepada makanan ayam dalam suatu kajian pemakanan, tiada perubahan signifikan dilihat dari segi pengambilan makanan, penambahan berat badan, nisbah pemakanan terhadap kenaikan berat badan dan juga berat usus, lemak abdomen, hati, limpa dan pankreas haiwan-haiwan tersebut.

Beberapa teknik kromatografi digunakan untuk mengasing dan mengesan kehadiran polifenol didalam sampel madu. Kelas polifenol antioksidan yang terpenting ialah flavanon, flavon, flavan, flavonol dan asid fenolik. Pencirian polifenol bergantung kepada kaedah yang digunakan. Sebatian fenolik ini boleh dianggap sebagai penanda botani dan telah dicirikan dengan menggunakan HPLC-DAD, HPLCMS/MS, GCMS dan LC-MSTOF. Kajian ini menunjukkan bahawa ITTOF ialah instrumen paling baik bagi analisa polifenolik madu.

Keputusan kajian ini mengesahkan pengesahihan kemungkinan penanda jenis madu dari pelbagai analisis. Penanda bioaktif yang berpotensi iaituapigenin (41.74 ng/100µl dan quercetin (3.38 ng/100 µl), ditemui dalam kuantiti yang besar didalam madu saffron. Sorotan kajian menunjukkan bahawa pencarian aktiviti antioksidan ke atas madu Iran belum lagi dilakukan. Kajian ini merupakan kajian pertama yang menganalisa kandungan antioksidan beberapa jenis madu Iran dan diharapkan dapat menyumbangkan data yang berguna bagi penggunaannya sebagai ubat.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to sincerely thank Professor Kamaruddin Mohd Yusof for guidance, patience

and concern during this study. Thanks Dr Azlina Abdul Aziz been supervising my thesis write up for 3 months. I am sincerely grateful to the Head of Department of Molecular Medicine Professor Onn Hashim.

I owe my best gratitude to my family for their encouragements and support during my PhD career. I really appreciate their kindness which was my inspiration and my driving force especially during the writing process.

The kind support of the Iranian Apitherapy Society is gratefully acknowledged. This project without IAS collaboration and my father financial support wouldn't have been possible.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	vi
ABSTRAK	vi
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS vi	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	x
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF ABREVIATIONS	xiv
CHAPTER 1	
GENERAL INTRODUCTION & LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1 Free radicals and Antioxidants	3
1.1.1 History of honey	6
1.1.2 Honey Composition	7
1.1.3 Antioxidants in Honey	9
1.1.4 Honey from Iran	11
1.2 Determination of Antioxidant Properties	12
1.3 Chromatography Methods of Analysis	14
1.3.1 Carbohydrates analysis	14
1.3.2 High Performance Liquid Chromatography	14
1.3.3 Gas Chromatography	15
1.4 Analytic Methods for the Analysis of Phenolics	16

CHAPTER 2

MATERIALS AND METHODS	17

vi

2.1 MATERIALS	17
2.1.1 Honey Samples	17
2.1.2 Chemicals	19
2.1.3 Instruments	20
2.2 Methods	22
2.1.1 Sampling	23
2.2.1.1 Liquid Honey	23
2.2.1.2 Analyses of pH values	24
2.2.1.3 Analyses of moisture content	24
2.2.1.4 Analyses of hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) content	26
2.2.2 Characterization of sugar profile	28
2.2.2.1 Determination of sugar content using gas chromatography	28
2.2.2.2 Determination of sugar content using high performance liquid chromatography	30
2.2.3 Analyses for total phenolic content and antioxidant activities	32
2.2.3.1 Determination of total phenolic content	32
2.2.3.2 Liquid-liquid extraction of polyphenols from honey	32
2.2.3.3 Determination of the free radical-scavenging activity of honey (DPPH Assay)	33
2.2.3.4 Determination of the total antioxidant power of honey (FRAP Assay)	34
2.2.4 Analyses on the effect of honey using an animal model	35
2.2.5 Cytotoxicity of honey on breast cancer cell lines	37
2.2.5.1 Cell Culture and Treatment	37
2.2.5.2 MTT Assay	37
2.2.6 Identification of antioxidant compounds	38
2.2.6.1 Solid phase extraction (SPE) of phenolics	38
2.2.6.2 Identification of polyphenolics in honey using (HPLC)	39
2.2.6.3 Identification of polyphenolics in Iranian honey using (GCMS)	40

2.2.6.4 Identification of polyphenolics in Iranian honey using (LCMS)	41
2.2.6.5 Identification of polyphenolics in Iranian honey using (LCMS-APCI)	41
2.2.6.6 Identification of polyphenolics in Iranian honey using (LCMS-ESI)	42
2.2.6.7 Identification of polyphenolics in Iranian honey using (LCMSMS-IT-TOF)	43
2.2.7 Statistical analysis	44

CHAPTER 3

RESULT AND DISCUSION	45
3.1 Physico-Chemical Properties of Honey	45
3.1.1 Honey color	45
3.1.2 Analyses of pH values	47
3.1.3 Analyses of moisture content	49
3.1.4 Analyses of hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) content	51
3.1.5 Characterization of sugar profiles in honey using (GC) and (HPLC)	52
3.2 Analyses for total phenolic content and antioxidant activities	54
3.2.1 Determination of total phenolic content	54
3.2.2 Determination of the DPPH radical-scavenging activity of honey (DPPH Assay)	57
3.2.3 Determination of the Total Antioxidant Power (TAP)	59
3.2.4 Relationship Between the Antioxidant Activity and Total Phenolic Contents	62
3.3 The Honey Efects in Broilers	64
3.4 Honey Activity on Breast Cancer Cell Lines	70
3.5 Identification of Antioxidant Compounds	73
3.5.1 Isolation, Identification and Quantification by using HPLC	73
3.5.1.1 Solid Phase Extraction (SPE)	73
3.5.1.2 High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC)	73
3.5.2 Identification of Phenolic Acid in Honey by using GCMS	79

3.5.3 Identification of Polyphenols in Honey by using APCI-LC-MS	84
3.5.4 Identification of Polyphenols in Honey by using ESI- LC-MS	89
3.5.5 Identification of Polyphenols in Honey by using TOF-MS	95
3.5.5.1 Combination Studies on the Botanical Origin of Honey and TOF-MS	105

CHAPTER 4

CONCLUSION	107
------------	-----

REFERENCES	111

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Cave painting more than 8,000 years old	6
Figure 1.2 Honey composition	8
Figure 2.1 Honey harvest in Khorasan province in Iran taken by Gilles Ratia	17
Figure 2.2: Overall work flow	22
Figure 2.3 Uncapping, centrifugal extraction, filtering and bottling of honey	24
Figure 3.1 Total phenolic content calibration curve	55
Figure 3.2 Total phenolic content of the ethyl acetate extracts of honey	56
Figure 3.3 Dose-dependent activity of vitamin C on scavenging the DPPH radicals	58
Figure 3.4 Dose–response curves for the DPPH activity of the extract of honey	59
Figure 3.5 FeSO ₄ standard curve of FRAP FOR honey	60
Figure 3.6 Ferric reducing antioxidant potential (FRAP) activity of fresh honey extracts	61
Figure 3.7 Ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) of the extracts of honey	61
Figure 3.8 Dose–response curves for the TAP of the crude honey extracts	62
Figure 3.9 Correlation between the FRAP of honey extracts and their TPC	63
Figure 3.10 Correlation between the DPPH activity of honey and their TPC	63
Figure 3.11 Anti-proliferative effect of honey on MCF-7 breast cancer cells	72
Figure 3.12 Anti-proliferative effect of honey on MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells	72
Figure 3.13 UV chromatogram of phenolic standards at 280 nm	75
Figure 3.14 Chromatogram of saffron honey detected by UV absorption at 280 nm	76
Figure 3.15 Chromatogram of berberis honey detected by UV absorption at 280 nm	76
Figure 3.16 Chromatogram of vulgare honey detected by UV absorption at 280 nm	76
Figure 3.17 Chromatogram of citrus honey detected by UV absorption at 280 nm	77
Figure 3.18 Chromatogram of thyme honey detected by UV absorption at 280 nm	77
Figure 3.19 Chromatogram of tamarix honey detected by UV absorption at 280 nm	77
Figure 3.20 Chromatogram of polyfloral honey detected by UV absorption at 280 nm	78
Figure 3.21 Chromatogram of sunflower honey detected by UV absorption at 280 nm	78

Х

Figure 3.22 Phenolic acid mass in the methanolic extract of saffron honey	82
Figure 3.23 Phenolic acid mass in the methanolic extract of berberis honey	82
Figure 3.24 Phenolic acid mass in the methanolic extract of vulgare honey	82
Figure 3.25 Phenolic acid mass in the methanolic extract of citrus honey	82
Figure 3.26 Phenolic acid mass in the methanolic extract of thyme honey	83
Figure 3.27 Phenolic acid mass in the methanolic extract of tamarix honey	83
Figure 3.28 Phenolic acid mass in the methanolic extract of polyfloral honey	83
Figure 3.29 Phenolic acid mass in the methanolic extract of sunflower honey	83
Figure 3.30 Mixed standards chromatogram detected at 210 nm	86
Figure 3.31 Mixed standard chromatogram detected at 260 nm	86
Figure 3.32 Chromatogram (TIC) of standards at 340 nm (A) and 290 nm (B)	88
Figure 3.33 UV Chromatography of saffron Honey	92
Figure 3.34 UV Chromatography of berberis Honey	92
Figure 3.35 UV Chromatography of vulgare Honey	92
Figure 3.36 UV Chromatography of citrus Honey	93
Figure 3.37 UV Chromatography of thyme Honey	93
Figure 3.38 UV Chromatography of tamarix Honey	93
Figure 3.39 UV Chromatography of polyfloral Honey	94
Figure 3.40 UV Chromatography of sunflower Honey	94
Figure 3.41 Chromatograms of the phenolic standards detected by mass spectral TIC	98
Figure 3.42 UV chromatography of saffron honey using TOF	100
Figure 3.43 UV chromatography of berberis honey using TOF	100
Figure 3.44 UV chromatography of vulgare honey using TOF	101
Figure 3.45 UV chromatography of citrus honey using TOF	101
Figure 3.46 UV chromatography of thyme honey using TOF	102
Figure 3.47: UV chromatography of tamarix honey using TOF	102

Figure 3.48: UV chromatography of polyfloral honey using TOF	103
Figure 3.49: UV chromatography of sunflower honey using TOF	103

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 40 honey samples that were initially tested in this study			
Table 2.2 Refractive Index for the determination of moisture content of honey	25		
Table 2.3 HPLC gradient profile	31		
Table 2.4 SPE methods	39		
Table 3.1 40 honey samples that were reported the colour	46		
Table 3.2 Honey samples that were tested in pH values	48		
Table 3.3 40 honey samples that were tested in moisture content	50		
Table 3.4 HMF content of 8 selected Iranian honeys analysed by spectrophotometry	51		
Table 3.5 The amount of sugars and sugars profile in 8 selected honey samples	53		
Table 3.6 Determination of total phenolic content of honey	55		
Table 3.7 The DPPH activities of crude honey and extract of honey samples	58		
Table 3.8 Effect of different treatment on chick body weight	67		
Table 3.9 Effect of different treatment on the chicks' daily weight gain	67		
Table 3.10 Effect of different treatment on food consumption	68		
Table 3.11 Effect of different treatment on food conversion ratio	68		
Table 3.12 Effect of different treatments on the organ weight of the broilers	69		
Table 3.13 HI Test for Avian Influenza	69		
Table 3.14 HI Test for Newcastle	69		
Table 3.15 Quantification of flavonoids in the methanolic extract of honeys	75		
Table 3.16 GCMS profiles of phenolic acid standards used in this study	80		
Table 3.17 APCI LCMS of phenolic standards used in this analysis	87		
Table 3.18 LCMS-ESI profiles of phenolic standards used in this study	91		
Table 3.19 Electrospray ionisation (ESI-MS) parameters used in this study	91		
Table 3.20 ITTOF of phenolics standards used in this study	97		
Table 3.21 Comparisons among the different methods of phenolics in the honeys	106		

LIST OF ABREVIATIONS

ACN: Acetonitrile				
APCI: Atmospheric pressure chemical ionization				
DAD: Diode array detector				
DPPH: 2, 2 – Dipheny l-1-picrylhydrazyl				
ESI: Electrospray ionization				
FRAP: Ferric reducing antioxidant potential				
GC: Gas chromatography				
GC-MS: Gas chromatography mass spectrometer				
HMF: 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural				
HPLC: High performance liquid chromatography				
LC-MS: Liquid chromatography mass spectrometer				
LLE: Liquid–liquid extraction				
m/z: Mass-to-charge ratio				
Me OH: Methanol				
MIC: Multiple ion chromatograms				
MW: Molecular weight				
ND: Not detected				
SPE: Solid-phase extraction				
TAP: Total Antioxidant Power				
TIC: Total ion current				
TPC: Total Phenolic Content				
TOF/MS: Time of flight mass spectrometer				

CHAPTER ONE

General Introduction and Review of literature

Honey has been historically used as traditional medicine for the treatment of various ailments and diseases. It is believed that antioxidants and carbohydrates, which are among the bioactive components, can provide the beneficial effects. Hence, the analysis of antioxidants and carbohydrates in honey are important to evaluate the potential use of honey in medicine.

The role of free radicals, such as superoxide radical and hydroxyl radical has been emphasised in a number of diseases, including cancer, cardiovascular disease, cataracts, macular degeneration, impaired wound healing, gastrointestinal inflammatory diseases and other inflammatory processes (Almahdi & Kamaruddin, 2004). The antioxidant activities of honeys can have the potential to be utilised to provide protection against these diseases.

The main objective of this research project was to investigate the identification of phenolic compounds in selected Iranian honeys using various chromatographic approaches. The broad varieties of floral honeys provided a wide number of matrices with differing composition of their precursors. To meet the main objective, the following specific objectives were targeted:

1) Characterization of the physicochemical parameters of different honey samples.

2) Determination of phenolic content and antioxidant activities of selected Iranian honeys.

3) Determination of the biological activities of selected Iranian honeys.

4) Identification and determination of the phenolic compounds in selected Iranian honeys.

1.1 Free radicals and Antioxidants

A free radical is defined as any species able of independent existence that contains

one or more unpaired electrons. To stabilize itself, the free radical abstracts an electron from a stable compound, which in turn, is transformed into a new free radical. This chain reaction will continue until the free radical containing the lone electron pairs up with another molecule with an unpaired electron.

Some of these reactive species for example hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) have no unpaired electrons but can still act as free radicals. Radicals that contain oxygen are known as reactive oxygen species (ROS). Other radicals such as nitrogen oxide (NO) contain nitrogen and they are termed as reactive nitrogen species (RNS). All these reactive species are grouped as "oxidants". Reactive oxygen and nitrogen species are commonly created as a consequence of normal metabolic pathways of the human body and are vital parts of its roles . They function in signaling cascade in cellular functions such as proliferation, inflammation, and adhesion .

The roles of ROS and RNS have been emphasised in the development of a number of diseases including asthma, cancer, cardiovascular diseases, cataracts, macular degeneration, impaired wound healing, rheumatoid arthritis, diabetes, gastrointestinal inflammatory diseases, liver diseases and periodontal diseases.

The term "oxidative stress" describes the lack of equilibrium in the organism between the production of free radicals and the antioxidant protective activity. The protection against oxidation is thought to prevent some chronic diseases. The oxidative modification of the lipoproteins is considered to be an important factor for the pathogenesis of arteriosclerosis.

Antioxidants are a group of substances, which when present at low concentrations in relation to oxidisable substrates, significantly delay or inhibit the oxidation of lipids or

other molecules by inhibiting the initiation or propagation of oxidizing chain reactions . In recent years there has been an increased interest in the application of antioxidants in medical treatment as information is constantly gathered linking the development of human diseases to oxidative stress . Many studies have been undertaken on the role antioxidants play in delaying or preventing the onset of oxidative damage-related diseases. The most likely and practical way to fight against these diseases is to improve the body's antioxidant status, which could be achieved by administration of exogenous antioxidants. Many epidemiological studies have linked diets containing moderate to high proportions of fruit and vegetables to lower mortality and to reduced risk of developing cardiovascular diseases, cancers, cataracts and macular degeneration .

Many antioxidants are used in food and food products to prevent oxidation and prolong the shelf life of food. However, most of these antioxidants are synthetic and may cause adverse health effect if consumed in large quantities. With today's consumer trends of demanding 'natural food', there is strong interest in the development of natural antioxidants . Numerous studies have been performed in the search for potent natural sources of antioxidants. One of these widely researched natural sources is honey.

Honeys from various parts of the world have been reported to contain substantial antioxidant compounds and antioxidant activities. Due to its antioxidant activities, honey has potential to be used as a feed additive, feed flavoring, acidifier, antibiotic, prebiotic, diuretic feed ingredients and improve poultry performance. Honey can also prevent deteriorative oxidation reactions in foods such as enzymatic browning of fruit and vegetables , lipid oxidation in meat and inhibit the growth of foodborne pathogens and food spoilage organisms . The good antioxidant effect, sterility and easy availability of honey make it an ideal source of natural antioxidants.

1.1.1 History of honey

Throughout the literature, honey has been an admired folk remedy around the world for a variety of ailments since the ancient times. Cave painting in Europe dating from 8,000 years BC depicted honey hunter (Figure 1.1), indicating that honey had been accepted from ancient times as a good product for the treatment of illnesses .

The Ebers papyrus of ancient Egypt (1700 BC) contained recommendations on the medicinal uses of hive products . Similar observations were seen in ancient Assyrians, Greeks, Romans and Persia. Honey was also mentioned in religious books including Torah and Bible. The Holy Qur'an specifically mentioned honey as having 'shifak' or healing properties to mankind.

In the works by Ibn sina (Avicenna), Aristotle, Pliny, Dioscorides, Galen,

Hippocrates, Varro and other ancient scholars there are traces and backgrounds on Apitherapy, the therapy based on bee products .



Figure 1.1 Cave painting more than 8,000 years old

1.1.2 Honey composition

Honey is technologically produced by bees from nectar of flowering plants. The Codex Alimentarius Commission (1981) defines honey as the natural sweet substance produced by bees from the nectar of blossoms or from secretions of living parts of plants or excretions of plant-sucking insects on the living part of plants that the bees collect, transformed, ripened and stored in honeycombs. It is the most complex natural tonic ever synthesised by the bees. Honey contains natural chemicals which vary due to differences in geographical, climatic or seasons as well as processing and storage conditions. These variations may also affect the known biological or pharmacological activities of honey even if they are from the same origin.

Honey is a substance that consists of over 300 compounds. In general, sugars represent the major composition of honey (95-99% solids of honey), whereby levulose

(38.19%), dextrose (31.28%) and water constitute the main portion of the honey mass . As can be seen in Figure 1.2, the remaining sugars are sucrose (1.3%) and maltose (7.3%). Minor components of honey are acids (0.57%), protein (0.27%), nitrogen (0.04%), amino acids (0.1%), a small amount of minerals (0.17%) , and a number of other minor compounds such as pigments, flavorings and aromatics, phenolic compounds, colloids, sugar alcohols and vitamins, which together represent 2.1% of the composition of honey .



Figure 1.2: Honey composition; Water 17.2%, levulose 38.19%, dextrose 31.28%, sucrose 1.3%, maltose 7.3%, complex sugars 1.49% and 3.24% others.

The diversity and concentration of these components are dependent on the botanical, geographical, processing, storage and origins of honey. Moreover, it is influenced by the variation of climate and availability of plant sources for the honeybees to harvest nectar within a specific region. Therefore, honeys originating from different floral sources differ in their chemical compositions. The honey quality is variable and quality can be assessed largely based on color, flavor and density. Fructose to glucose ratio is also assessed to provide characterization of honey samples from different origins, as it may indicate the tendency of honey to crystallize. Heating and ageing can also affect the quality of honey.

Honey has been reported to have various biological effects including anti-bacterial, anti-inflammatory, angiogenic properties, and is shown to generate granulation tissue, facilitate epithelialization, prevent and reduce scars and alleviate pain. The wound healing properties of honey is especially well established, potentially contributed by its anti-bacterial properties and its high viscosity providing a protective barrier to prevent infection.

1.1.3 Antioxidants in Honey

In recent years, researchers have identified a number of phytochemicals in different foods, including honey. Phytochemicals are substances in plants. Many phytochemicals promote health activities. Antioxidants, a large group of phytochemicals, reduce the risk of oxidative damage to tissues. Honey is rich in enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants, including catalase, ascorbic acid, flavonoids and alkaloids.

Various studies have been conducted on the antioxidant properties of honeys. Honey has been found to contain significant antioxidant compounds including glucose oxidase, catalase, ascorbic acid, flavonoids, phenolic acids, carotenoid derivatives, organic acids, Maillard reaction products, amino acids and proteins . The main antioxidants seem to be the phenolics and the Maillard products named melanoidins.

Flavonoids are phytochemicals that cannot be synthesized by animals and human beings. Flavonoids found in animals originated from food . Therefore, the flavonoids are present in most vegetables including fruits, cereals, grains, nuts, herbs and honey. In addition, any drink containing natural flavors and colors made with plant material also contains flavonoids, such as white wine, red wine, tea, coffee, fruit juice, cider, and cocoa. Many flavonoids have been reported to contain potent antioxidant activities . Several flavonoids have been reported to be present in honey. These included pinocembrin, kaempferol, quercetrin, naringenin, pinocembrin, galangin and chrysin . Flavonoids in honey can have different profiles depending on the floral nectar source. To date, data on the antioxidant components and antioxidant activities of Iranian honey are still lacking and merit further research.

The dependence of the antibacterial activity on the botanical origin is less clear cut than the antioxidant properties of honey and there is a relation between antibacterial activity and antioxidant activity of honey. The antioxidant effect of honey prevents oxidation of food during storage. Honey acts against lipid oxidation of meat and is thus an efficient additive for preventing oxidation spoilage, e.g. to poultry or to meat.

The effect of heat on the antioxidant capacity of clover and buckwheat honey during storage was analysed recently. Processing clover honey did not significantly impact antioxidant capacity. Storage for 6 months reduced the antioxidant capacity of honeys by about 30%, with no impact of storage temperature or container type detected at the end point of the storage period. Antioxidant capacity of processed and raw honeys was similar after storage.

Different methods have been applied for determination of antioxidant activities. The different methods for the determination of the antioxidant activity have been reviewed. There is a significant correlation between the antioxidant activity, the phenolic content of honey and the inhibition of the *in vitro* lipoprotein oxidation of human serum. A study utilizing 14 commercial honey reported significant positive correlations between several antioxidant assays with the phenolic content and colour intensity of the honey samples, implying the importance of phenolic compounds in honey in providing antioxidant activities (Beretta et al., 2005). Iran is a country that is rich in honey production and due to its geographical location and climatic conditions; different types of honeys are produced. However, not much data is available on the composition of Iranian honey especially their antioxidant content and antioxidant activities.

1.1.4 Honey from Iran

Some parts in Iran are an ideal source of medicinal honey due to different climates, high mountains and herbs. Honey is considered an important food and for use in traditional Persian medicine, either individually or as an ingredient in medicinal compounds. There are evidences that show the production of honey and apitherapy have been active in Iran since ancient times. One of the most famous Iranian physicians who have a broad therapeutic use of bee products was Avicenna who wrote dozens of recipes for honey-based drugs. He used the word "ASAL" (Honey) over 1400 times in his book (Canon), and cited several internal and external treatments of honey in the circulatory system and visual aids, cosmetics, superficial wounds, deep wound infections, eczema, inflammations, infections of the tonsils, throat and some digestive system disorders .

Iran extends north to the Caspian Sea, Tajikistan, Armenia, Azerbaijan and Turkmenistan and south to Oman Sea and the Persian Gulf. With these wide limits, its climate varies a lot with the existence of nearly four seasons. The sites for beekeeping, located by satellite (GPS navigator) shows a large number of beehives in Iran with more than five million beehive colonies with the number of beekeepers of 61,704 and annual production of honey of 45,023 tons .

The physicochemical properties of the honeys are carried out based on the Institute

10

of Standards and Industrial Research of Iran. The standardization of honey is possible if the analytical analysis is controlled. Iranian honey standard organization decides the standard of Persian honeys. In this research, the Iranian honeys were selected based on Iranian honey standards.

1.2 Determination of Antioxidant Properties

It is reported that part of the therapeutic function of honey is due to its antioxidant activities . Hence, studying the antioxidative components and antioxidant activities of honeys are important to further discover their potential.

The main characteristic of an antioxidant is its ability to trap free radicals. Different types of free radicals can be generated through different reactions. The more common radicals are hydroxyl radicals, the peroxyl radicals and the superoxide anion radicals.

Numerous *in vitro* antioxidant analyses are used to evaluate antioxidant activities of natural compounds in foods or biological systems. Almahdi and Kamaruddin (2004) recommended a quick, reliable, cost effective and simple test to study the antioxidant compounds and antioxidant activities. These included the Folin-Ciocalteu assay for the total phenolic content (TPC), the ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) assay for total antioxidant activity, the DPPH assay to analyze radical scavenging capacity.

Many authors in different countries (Malaysia, Sudan, Saudi Arabia, Turkey, and many other countries) have shown that honey is a natural source of antioxidants. The antioxidant activity of honey varies widely depending on the floral source, geographical origin and climatic characteristics of the place. However, there is little knowledge on the profiles of antioxidants in Iranian honey.

Studies on the antioxidant properties of Iranian honey are severely lacking. Thus, the main objective of this study was to evaluate the antioxidant capacity of Iranian honeys and to evaluate their relationship with total phenolic content.

In addition to their antioxidant activities, phenolic compounds such as phenolic acids and polyphenols have been recently suggested as potential markers for the determination of the botanical origin of honey. Studies have reported differences in the composition and amounts of phenolics in different unifloral honeys. Heather honeys for instance contained more phenolic acids whereas citrus and rosemary honeys contained more flavonoids . Hence, determination of phenolic compounds in the Iranian honeys can potentially be useful as biomarkers for their botanical origin.

1.3 Chromatography Methods of Analysis

1.3.1 Carbohydrate analysis

Several in depth reviews, covering carbohydrates' analyses have been published so far . All the different methods have their strengths and weaknesses, and some of them are more appropriate when it comes to the analysis of food commodities. The high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and gas chromatography (GC) techniques are the most commonly used methods when it comes to the determination of carbohydrates.

1.3.2 High Performance Liquid Chromatography

High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) is the most used instrument for the analysis of carbohydrates. The HPLC methods are precise and much faster than GCbased methods. There are different approaches for the HPLC determination of sugars. They can be analyzed with or without derivatization. The separation can be carried out using two types of columns; silica-based amino propyl columns or ion-exchange columns. The detection of underivatised carbohydrates can be achieved with a refractive index detector (RID), an evaporative light-scattering detector (ELSD), an electrochemical detector or by mass spectrometric determination (MS). The UV detection is inappropriate as carbohydrates have no suitable chromophores. The refraction index detector is one of the most common detectors for sugar analysis. The detection principle involves measuring the change in refractive index of the column effluent passing through the flow-cell. The sensitivity will be higher for samples having higher difference in refractive index relative to the mobile phase. The RID is a non specific detector, and it cannot be used for analyses requiring a gradient elution because it is a differential instrument. In several published methods, sugars were monitored by RID. The analysis of sugar composition of 53 Spanish honey samples and different commercially processed foods like cereals, coffee creamer, ice cream, maple syrup and peanut butter (Iverson and Bueno, 1981) were reported. The

evaporative light scattering detector (ELSD) is one alternative to RID. It has a better sensitivity than RID, excellent baseline stability, and it is fully compatible with all solvents and gradient elution. However, like RID, it has a low selectivity because of its universal detection mode: detect all solutes that are less volatile than the mobile phase. The drawback of the ELSD is that it generates a non-linear response, so several concentrations must be used to do quantitative work. In a review (Molnar-Perl, 2000), the use of HPLC-ELSD method for the determination of the carbohydrate content of beet juice and beer has been reported. The electrochemical detector is more selective and sensitive than RID and ELSD. However, the major problem with the electrochemical detector is the passivation of the electrode. Different types of electrode have been investigated to avoid this drawback.

1.3.3 Gas Chromatography

Most of the methods for the determination of sugars by gas chromatography (GC) were published in the 1980 or before. Since the 1990's, the GC has been largely replaced by HPLC for the analysis of sugars. Nonetheless, it is possible to analyze sugars with GC. However, the direct analysis of sugars using GC is not possible. In order to quantify carbohydrates by CG, the carbohydrates must go through a derivatization step. Sugars must be derivatized to stable trifluoroacetates, trimethylsilyl (TMS) or tert-butyldimefhylsilyl (TBDMS) derivatives to be volatilized in the GC. The sugar composition of the sample and the type of food matrix are the determining factors for the choice of derivatizing agents. If the main difference between the analytes is the orientation of hydroxyl groups, the acylated derivatives are a better option. For the saccharides with a higher molecular weight or with glycosidic linkages, it is preferable to use TMS or TBDMS derivatives. Nonetheless, several problems can arise in the GC procedures (Molnar-Perl, 2000). One of the main

problems is the formation of interfering compounds. Sometimes two or three interfering compounds are generated for the same sugar due to incomplete derivatization. The resulting chromatogram is more complicated to analyse. Particular attention must be given to the derivatization conditions to ensure maximum yield. The inappropriate derivatization process can lead to difficulties in interpretation of the chromatograms.

1.4 Analytical Methods for the Analysis of Phenolics

Apart from the GC and HPLC methods in phenolics analysis, other alternative methods have been developed for determination of honey phenolics.

ESI-LCMSMS-TOF is the best method to analyze honey phenolics in comparison to the other methods which were used in this study. Flavonoids are not analyzed by GC-MS because they do not hold nitrogen atoms and include low basicity in the liquid phase. Atmospheric pressure chemical ionization (APCI) LCMS works better on non-polar molecules but provide the highest sensitivity for phenolics. The analysis of polyphenols in complex matrices includes a procedure of sample preparation, which can cover phenolics isolation and cleanup further to remove impurities.

CHAPTER TWO

2.1MATERIALS

2.1.1 Honey samples

In this study, 40 honey samples (Table 2.1) were initially harvested from Khorasan

province in Iran (Figure 2.1). Subsequently, eight samples were selected based on Malaysian honey standards, using pH value and moisture content as the criteria. The physicochemical properties of these eight Iranian honeys were studied. These unpasteurized honeys were obtained from the Iranian Apitherapy Society (IAS), and were kept at room temperature, away from direct light before use.



Figure 2.1: Honey harvest in Khorasan province in Iran (taken by Gilles Ratia.

Table 2.1: 40 honey samples that were initially tested in this study.

Honey	Floral origin	Honey	Floral origin
1	Crocus sativus	21	Mentha piperita
2	Berberis	22	Polyfloral
3	Foeniculum vulgare	23	Malus domestica
4	Citrus	24	Polyfloral
5	Thyme (Astragallus, Thistle)	25	Vitex agnus castus
6	Tamarix(Rosmarinusofficinalis)	26	cotton
7	Polyfloral	27	helianthus
8	Sunflower (alfalfa, Lotus)	28	Polyfloral
9	polyfloral	29	Polyfloral
10	polyfloral	30	eucalypyus
11	Lavandula angustifolia	31	Ferula gumosa
12	polyfloral	32	Centaurea cyanus
13	polyfloral	32	Polyfloral
14	Prunus	34	Robinia pseudoacacia
15	polyfloral	35	Polyfloral
16	polyfloral	36	Prunus domestica
17	Rosmarinus officinalis	37	Prunus persica
18	polyfloral	38	polyfloral
19	Foeniculum vulgare	39	Pyrus communis
20	polyfloral	40	Citrus limon

2.1.2 Chemicals

All chemicals used were either of analytical or HPLC grade and were obtained from the following sources:

Ajax Chemicals Ltd., Sydney Australia:

Sodium metabisulfite (Na₂S₂O₅).

Fluka Chemicals, Switzerland:

2, 4, 6-Tripyridyl-s-Triazine (TPTZ), Kaempferol and Caffeic acid.

J.T. Baker Chemicals Ltd. England:

Hydrochloric Acid.

Merck, Darmstadt, Germany:

Ethyl acetate, Acetic acid, Iron(II) sulfate heptahydrate(FeSO₄. 7H₂O), Iron (III) chloride hexahydrate (Fe Cl₃.6H₂O), Methanol, Acetonitrile, Sodium hydroxide (NaOH), sodium carbonate (Na₂CO₃) Sodium acetate trihydrate (C₂H₃NaO₂.3H₂O).

Sigma Chemicals Company, St. Louis USA:

Ascorbic acid , 2-2- Diphenyl-1-Picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), Folin- Ciocalteau Reagent, Levulose, Dextrose, Saccharose, Maltose, Benzoic acid, Chlorogenic acid, Gallic acid, Pcoumaric acid, Pinocemberin, Apigenin, Galangin, Chrysin, Hesperetin, Naringenin, Eriodictyol, Morin hydrate, Epicatechin, Catechin, Ellagic acid, Rutin, Trolox, BHT, Quercetin, Ferulic acid and Fumaric acid.

2.1.3 Instruments

Centrifuge (KHT-420B, Gemmy Industrial Corp., Taiwan)

Rotary evaporator (EYELA, Tokyo Rikakikai Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan)

UV-VIS Spectrophotometer (Hitachi, U-2000 Japan)

Vortex-mixer (Vm-2000 YIH Instruments Co Ltd, Taiwan)

Water bath (Schutzart DIN 40050-memmert, Germany)

Milli Q water (Millipore, Milford, MA USA)

Isolute SPE columns & VacMaster vacuum manifolds (International Sorbent Technology Ltd Hengoed, Mid Glamorgan.UK)

GC (GC-14A, Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan).

GC-MS (QP 5050, Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan).

HPLC (LC-10A series, Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan).

LC-MS-APCI (LC-20AD series, Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan).

LC-MS-ESI (LC-20AD series, Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan).

LC-MS-MS-IT-TOF (LC-20AD series, Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan).

Ultrasonic bath.

Volumetric flask, 100 mL.

Membrane filter for aqueous solutions, pore size 0.45 µm.

0.2 mm filter (Satorius-Minister® NML).

Filter holder for membrane filters with suitable syringe.

HPLC consisting of pump, sample applicator, temperature-regulated RI-detector thermostated at 30°C, temperature regulated column oven at 30°C and integrator.

Analytical stainless steel column, e.g. 4.6 mm in diameter, 250 mm length, containing

amine-modified silica gel with 5 μm -7 μm particle size.

Analytical balance, accurate to 0.001 g.

Refractive index detector (RI, Waters 2410).

Microplate reader (Power wave x 340, Bio-Tek Instruments, INC., Winooski, Vermont, USA).

Analysis was performed from SPSS 17.0 and also lab solution software.

2.2 METHODS



Figure 2.2: Overall work flow

2.2.1 Sampling

In this study, 40 honey samples were initially harvested from Khorasan province in Iran. Subsequently, eight samples were selected based on Malaysian honey standards as well as pH values and moisture content. The physico-chemical properties of these eight Iranian honeys were studied.
2.2.1.1 Liquid Honey

The samples of honey were processed as described. Uncapping the hives is the first step in processing of the honey. The top of the waxes was then cut with a sharp thin knife and this was followed by the removal of impurities such as particles of wax and other impurities that were present during extraction. Finally pure honey is obtained and poured into bottles and vacuum package (Figure 2.3).

If any foreign matter, such as wax, sticks, bees and particles of comb were present in honeys, they were heated at 40°C in a water-bath and strained through cheesecloth before sampling. If the samples were free from granulation, they were mixed thoroughly by stirring or shaking; if they were granulated, they were placed in closed containers in a water-bath and heated for 30 min at 60°C until melted. The temperature might be increased to 65°C if necessary. Occasional shaking might be essential during the heating process. The incubation conditions were controlled by a Gallenkamp model IH-1 50 incubator. The temperature of the incubator was electronically controlled and verified against a calibrated thermometer. All these processing were done in the honey laboratory in Iran (Saleh honey Institute).



Figure 2.3: Uncapping, centrifugal extraction, filtering and bottling of honey.

2.2.1.2 Analyses of pH values

The procedure described by was used. Honey samples (2 g) were diluted with deionised water (5 mL). The solution was mixed until complete dissolution. The pH of the solution was then directly measured with a pH meter (Accumet® 950 pH/ion Meter) after it reached room temperature.

2.2.1.3 Analyses of moisture content

Data on the moisture content of honey is an important parameter in determining the quality of honey, since it affects storage life and processing characteristics. The protocol for this study was based on the refractometric method of Chataway (1932), revised by Wedmore .

The refractive index of the honey sample was determined using a refractometer at a constant temperature of 20°C. The refractive index reading was converted to moisture content (percent) using the table given below (Table 2.2).

Table 2.2: Refractive Index for the determination of moisture content of honey.

Refractive Index (20°C)	Moisture Content (%)	Refractive Index (20°)	Moisture Content (%)	Refractive Index (20°C)	Moisture Content (%)
1.5044	13.0	1.4935	17.2	1.4830	21.4
1.5038	132	1.4930	17.4	1.4825	21.6
1.5033	13.4	1.4925	17.6	1.4820	21.8
1.50.28	13.6	1.4920	17.8	1.4815	22.0
1.50.23	13.8	1.4915	18.0	1.4810	22.2
1.50.18	14.0	1.4910	18.2	1.4805	22.4
1.5012	14.2	1.4905	18.4	1.4800	22.6
1.5007	14.4	1.4900	18.6	1.4.795	22.8
1.5002	14.6	1.4895	18.8	1.4790	23.0
1.4997	14.8	1.4890	19.0	1.4785	23.2
1.4992	150	1.4885	19.2	1.4780	23.4
1.4987	152	1.4880	19.4	14775	23.6
1.4982	15.4	1.4875	19.6	1.4770	23.8
1.4976	156	1.4870	19.8	1.4.765	24.0
1.4971	158	1.4865	20.0	1.4760	24.2
1.4966	16.0	1.4860	20.2	1.4.755	24.4
1.4961	162	1.4855	20.4	1.4750	24.6
1.49.56	16.4	1.48.50	20.6	1.4.745	24.8
1.4951	16.6	1.4845	20.8	1.4.740	25.0
1.4946	16.8	1.4840	21.0		
1.4940	17.0	1.4835	21.2		

2.2.1.4 Analyses of hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) content

HMF formation resulted from the acid-catalyzed dehydration of hexose sugars with levulose. Fresh honey normally contained small amounts of HMF. For example, if natural honey is stored for one year at temperature lower than 25°C, the HMF content will increase by 3 mg/100 g honey. Acid-catalyzed invert syrup invariably contains high amounts of HMF. Prolonged storage or hot climate can result in an increase in HMF content of honey. In this study, spectrophotometer was used to measure the HMF content in the honey sample.

The determination of HMF content was based on the UV absorbance of HMF at 284 nm. In order to avoid interference from other components at this wavelength, the difference between the absorbance of a clear aqueous honey solution and the same solution after addition of bisulphate was determined. The HMF content was calculated after subtraction of the background absorbance at 336 nm. This method was based on the original work of White et al. .

The protocol for the HMF analysis is as below:

1. 5.0 g honey was weighed in a beaker and 25.0 ml distilled water was added. The mixture was stirred until honey was completely dissolved.

2. The solution was transferred to a 50 ml volumetric flask.

3. 0.5 ml Carrez I solution was added and was mixed thoroughly.

4. 0.5 ml Carrez II solution was added and was mixed thoroughly.

5. Then distilled water was added up to the 50 ml mark of the volumetric flask. If necessary, a drop of ethanol was added to suppress the formation of foam.

6. The solution was filtered using a filter paper. The first 10 ml solution was discarded. The

rest was collected in a separate vial.

7. 1.0 ml solution was pipetted into two separate test tubes.

8. For the test solution, 1.0 ml distilled water was added to the solution and was mixed well. For the reference solution, 1.0 ml sodium bisulphate (0.2%) was added and was mixed well.

9. Using a Quartz cuvette, the absorbance of the sample solution against reference solution at wavelengths of 284 nm and 336 nm were obtained within an hour. If the absorbance at 284 nm was more than a value of 0.6, appropriate dilution of the sample with distilled water and the reference solution with sodium bisulphate was carried out in order to obtain a sample absorbance low enough for accuracy.

The HMF content, expressed in mg/kg sample was calculated using the following formula:

(A₂₈₄ - A₃₃₆) ×149.7×5×D/W

Where;

A₂₈₄ is the absorbance at 284 nm;

A₃₃₆ is the absorbance at 336 nm;

149.7 is the factor = $126 \times 1000 \times 1000/16830 \times 10 \times 5$

126 is the molecular weight of HMF

16830 is the molar absorption of HMF at 284 nm

1000 is the conversion of g to mg

10 is the conversion 5 into 50 ml

1000 is the conversion g of honey into kg

W is the sample weight

D is the dilution factor

2.2.2 Characterization of sugar profile

2.2.2.1 Determination of sugar content using gas chromatography

Some factors such as the Fructose/Glucose ratio, total reducing sugars and also antioxidant activity must be taken into consideration to establish honey profile.

A gas chromatography (GC) method was adapted from Doner et al with some modification to determine the sugar content of the 8 honey samples .

In this experiment, pyridine was used as solvent. Hexamethyldisilazane (HMDS) was used as methylating agent. Triflouroacetic acid was used to promote the methylation of sugar into methylated hydrocarbons. This method was chosen because of its high sensitivity, reliability and most importantly for its rapidity. This is because after sugar is methylated, it can be injected into the GC without further processing. The sugar content in honey was compared to the standards; levulose, dextrose, maltose and saccharose. Codex alimentarious commission (CAC) suggested a minimum total reducing sugar of 65% for pure honey. This criterion is set to detect sample that is adulterated. The samples were first derivatized before being injected into the column. The different standards will give different peaks and these were compared to the peaks from the honey samples so that each individual standard could be injected and their contents could be determined.

The standard sugars (1.0 mg) was individually placed inside a glass vial and labeled. 5.0 mg honey samples were placed inside glass vials. Then 0.45 ml of pyridine was added to each glass vial. After that, the vials were immersed in a water bath at 80°C for 10 minutes. 0.5 ml of HMDS was then added and mixed well. 0.5 ml of TFA was added drop by drop. The sample was shaken for 30 seconds and allowed to stand for 15 minutes. A homogenous clear solution was obtained. If the sample was cloudy, a new sample would be prepared again. The unclouded samples and standards were left for at least 24 hours before being injected onto the GC column. 1.0 μ l of solution was injected into the GC column. The following formula was used to calculate the percentage of sugar in honey:

The weight of sugar in honey (mg) = (area peak in honey samples / area peak in standard) × Weight of standard (mg)

% sugar in honey= [Sugar in honey (mg) / weight of honey samples (mg)] $\times 100\%$

2.2.2.2 Determination of sugar content using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)

To analyse sugar profiles in the honey samples using HPLC, Bogdanov and Baumann method was followed . Sugar standards were maltose, glucose, fructose and sucrose. For each sugar, a standard 4.0 g/L solution was prepared using deionized water. Honey samples (250 mg) were prepared in 5 ml of deionized water. Three replicates were used for each honey sample. Prior to HPLC analyses, the honey samples were passed through Isolute solid phase extraction (SPE) columns and eluted using VacMaster vacuum manifolds (International Sorbent Technology Ltd Hengoed, Mid Glamorgan.UK) before being filtered using a 0.2 mm filter (Satorius-Minister® NML). The SPE cartridge was made active by eluting with methanol and cleaned with 2 ml water.

HPLC analysis was performed on an LC-10A series liquid chromatography system (Shimadzu, Japan), equipped with a C_{18} column (ZORBAX Eclipse Plus C_{18} 5µm 4.6 x 150 mm), thermostated at 40°C. A gradient elution was modified to separate the extracted sugars. Solvent (A) was 5.0% acetic acid in ultra-high quality water and solvent (B) was 5.0% acetic acid in methanol. All solvents were degassed prior to use. Elution was performed at a solvent flow rate of 1.0 ml/min.

The gradient profile of the system was 8% solvent B at the initial stage (2 minutes), 20% solvent B at 5 min, 35% solvent B at 10 min, 55% solvent B at 10 min, 90% solvent B at 12 min, 100% solvent B at 12 min and 8% solvent B at 15 min. The sugar standard was injected into the HPLC prior to analyses of the honey samples (20 µl injections).

 Table 2.3: HPLC gradient profile

Time (min)	Solvent B (%)
2	8
5	20

10	35
10	55
12	90
12	100
15	8

A syringe and pre-mounted membrane filter were used to transfer the solution to sample vials. The standard solutions were stable for four weeks in the refrigerator at 4°C and for six months at -18°C. After filtration of the solution, the sugar content was determined by HPLC with Refractive index (RI) detection. Peaks were identified on the basis of their retention times. Quantification was performed using external standards according to peak area or peak height.

2.2.3 Analyses for total phenolic content and antioxidant activities

2.2.3.1 Determination of total phenolic content

The total phenolic content of the honey samples were estimated by a colorimetric method based on the Folin-Ciocalteau assay. Dilutions of samples (0.25 - 4.0 mg/ml) were prepared in deionised water; 0.5 ml of each was placed in test tubes, and 9.5 ml of deionized water was added. Three ml of 20% NaCO solution (w/v) was added to each tube, followed by 1 ml Folin-Ciocalteau reagent. The solution was mixed well, and allowed to stand for 1 hour at room temperature; after which the absorbance was read at 750 nm in a spectrophotometer against deionized water as blank. The total phenolic content was calculated from the calibration curve prepared from gallic acid in the concentration range of 10-250 µg.

2.2.3.2 Liquid-liquid extraction of polyphenols from honey

10 g of honey sample was made up to 50 ml using water, after which 50 ml of 3N NaOH was added and the solution kept for 4 hours at room temperature under nitrogen pressure. The pH of the hydrolysate was adjusted to pH 3.5 using 4N HCl. Then, 100 ml ethyl acetate was added, followed by 2 g sodium metabisulphate. The solution was poured into a separating funnel, shook for 5 minutes and allowed to separate. The ethyl acetate layer was recovered and this procedure was repeated six times. Finally, the recovered ethyl acetate solution was pooled and concentrated under vacuum at 35°C and was dried under nitrogen pressure. These samples were used for analyses of antioxidant activities and identification of antioxidant compounds.

2.2.3.3 Determination of the free radical-scavenging activity of honey (DPPH Assay)

The spectrophotometric DPPH (2, 2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl) radical scavenging assay that was used by Chen et al (2000) and Almahdi and Kamaruddin (2004) for the

measurement of the antioxidant activity of honey was followed in this study. This technique was first described by Glavind .

In order to evaluate the radical scavenging activity of compounds or extracts, samples are allowed to react with stable free radicals such as DPPH in the presence of an antioxidant which can donate an electron (hydrogen atom) to DPPH. The purple colour, which is typical to DPPH radical decays, and the change in absorbance can be followed spectrophotometrically at 517 nm . This test can provide information on the ability of a compound to donate a hydrogen atom, or the number of electrons a given molecule can donate. In cases where the structure of the electron donor is unknown, this method can provide data on the reduction potential of the sample, and hence can be useful in comparing the reduction potential of unknown materials .

Honey was dissolved in warm deionized water (0.1 g/ml), and then 0.75 ml of this solution was mixed with 1.5 ml of DPPH solution (0.09 mg/ml in methanol) and allowed to incubate at room temperature for 5 minutes. Each honey sample was then completely reduced, and the absorbance was measured at 517 nm against a test blank consisting of honey solution with 1.5 ml of distilled water: methanol. The two readings were subtracted from each other to eliminate the absorbance value due to chemicals other than antioxidants present in honey. The antiradical activity (ARA) of honey was expressed as percentage inhibition of DPPH radicals by honey and was calculated as follow:

 $ARA(\%) = [(AB-AT)/AB] \times 100$

AB = Absorbance of DPPH radical blank

AT = Absorbance of test sample with DPPH radical

2.2.3.4 Determination of the total antioxidant power of honey (FRAP Assay)

The ferric reducing/antioxidant power (FRAP) assay was adopted in this study to measure the total antioxidant power of honey. It is a simple and accurate test developed by Benzie and Strain (1996) and modified by Almahdi and Kamaruddin (2004) as a direct method for measuring the total antioxidant power of honey.

At low pH, reduction of ferric tripyridyltriazine (Fe³⁺-TPTZ) complex to the ferrous form, which has an intense blue colour, can be monitored by measuring the change in absorbance at 593 nm. The reaction is nonspecific, in that any half-reaction that has a lower redox potential, under reaction conditions, than that of the ferric/ferrous half-reaction will drive the ferric (Fe³⁺) to ferrous (Fe²⁺) reaction. The change in absorbance, therefore, is directly related to the combined or "total" reducing power of the antioxidants present in the reaction mixture .

Reagents included 300 mM acetate buffer, pH 3.6 [3.1 g sodium acetate trihydrate, plus 16 ml glacial acetic acid in 1 liter of deionized water]; 10 mM 2,4,6- tripyridyl-s-triazine (TPTZ) in 40 mM HCl and 20 mM FeCl₃.6H₂O. Working FRAP reagent was prepared fresh as required by mixing 10% acetate buffer, 1% TPTZ solution and 1% FeCl₃.6H₂O solution.

Freshly prepared working FRAP reagent was prepared by mixing 10 volumes of 300 mmol/L acetate buffer, pH 3.6 with a volume of 10 mmol of TPTZ in 40 mmol/L HCl and a volume of 20 mmol/L of FeCl₃.6H₂O and was warmed to 37°C. Two hundred microlitres of honey solution (0.1 g/ml) was added to 1.5 ml of freshly prepared FRAP reagent. The mixture was then incubated at 37°C for 4 minutes, then the absorbance at 593

nm was measured against a blank (200 μ l of distilled water). The difference between the absorbance of honey sample and the blank was calculated. Aqueous solutions of Fe²⁺ (FeSO₄.7H₂O) in the range of 100-1000 μ mol/L were used for calibration. The reducing power of honey was expressed as μ M Fe²⁺ equivalents /L.

2.2.4 Analyses on the effect of honey on performance and immune response using an animal model

In order to investigate the effect of honey on performance and immune response of chicks, healthy inbred male broilers (Lohman), weighing 25-30 g were used for the study. They were individually housed and maintained on normal food and water ad lib. Animals were periodically weighed before and after the experiment. Animals were closely observed for any infection and if they showed signs of infection, they were separated, excluded from the study and replaced.

Commercial male broilers (Lohman) were obtained from a local hatchery. One-day old chicks were weighed and randomly allocated to six dietary treatment groups. The basal corn-soybean meal diet was prepared according to NRC and specific treatment was added to the diet (3% of the diet). Twenty-four pens of chicks (10 chicks per pen) were assigned to each of six treatment groups. The experimental design was a completely randomized design with six treatments. The amount of sugars added to the diet was not more than 3 g/kg as it could harm the broilers. The treatment groups consisted of: Normal diet as control (T1), diet + 3 g/kg dextrose (T2), diet + 3 g/kg saccharose (T3), diet + 3 g/kg polyfloral honey (T4), diet + 3 g/kg levulose (T5), and diet + 3 g/kg maltose (T6).

The chicks' body weight, daily weight gain, food consumption and food conversion

ratio were recorded at the ages of 21, 42 and 62 days, in all the treatment groups.

At 56 days of age, one bird from each pen was killed to measure the weight of gastrointestinal tract, liver, pancreas, spleen and abdominal fat. All groups were fed a practical corn soy-based diet. Serum samples were collected from 240 broilers. Haemagglutination inhibition (HI) test was done on the serum samples by a commercial lab using routine standard procedure. The HI test is a neutralisation test with red blood cell agglutination as the indicator. The principle of the test is to determine, by dilution, the level of (agglutination) inhibiting antibodies in the chick's serum that will prevent the agglutination of the indicator system (susceptible red blood cells).

2.2.5 Cytotoxicity of honey on breast cancer cell lines

To study the cytotoxicity of the honey sample on human breast cancer, cell lines (MCF-7 & MDA-MB-231) were obtained from American Type Cell Culture (ATCC).

2.2.5.1 Cell Culture and Treatment

The cells were cultured in 1640 media, which was prepared as described by Freshney (1994). MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells were propagated in RPMI media, supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and 1 unit/ml penicillin/streptomycin. The cell lines were maintained at 37° C in 5% CO₂ humidified atmosphere.

2.2.5.2 MTT Assay

The cytotoxicity of the honey sample was studied in cell culture media and compared with their antioxidant activities. Saffron and sunflower honeys were chosen for the cytotoxicity study. Various concentrations of the honey extracts were studied and determined 3-(4, 5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, cvtotoxicity was using the 5diphenvltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay. The human breast cancer cell lines (MCF 7 and MDA-MBA 231) were cultured in RPMI 1640 with 10% FBS and incubated in 37°C with 5% CO₂ After an overnight incubation, cells were seeded at a density of 7000 cells per well of 96-well plates (with 100 µl of medium) and incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for 24 hours. Cells were treated with various concentrations of honey extracts for 24 and 48 hours. After the incubation period, media was removed and 10 µl MTT reagent was added to each well, followed by another 4 hour incubation period. MTT reagent was then removed and 100 ul DMSO added to each well. The absorbance of the 96-well plates was measured with an ELISA reader at λ =595nm. Each test was repeated at least three times. The concentration of the samples, which shows 50% growth inhibition value, corresponds to the IC_{50} .

2.2.6 Identification of antioxidant compounds

2.2.6.1 Solid phase extraction (SPE) of phenolics

All the 8 selected honeys were analyses for antioxidant compounds. The honey samples were initially subjected to SPE to remove impurities and to obtain clean samples with a high recovery. The SPE cartridge was subjected to a conditioning process before sample was loaded. For this, 5 mL methanol was added to the cartridge. The use of a C₁₈ SPE cartridge allowed for a fast sample treatment with low solvent consumption . Vacuum was applied and the eluent was discarded. The conditioning process was repeated with 5 mL H₂O. The cartridge was not allowed to go dry at any point during this step .

One mL of sample which was prepared by liquid-liquid extraction (section 2.2.3.2) was added to the cartridge. Vacuum was applied and the eluent was discarded. Then, 5 mL H₂O was added to the cartridge and vacuum was applied and the eluent was discarded.

A collection tube was then placed beneath the cartridge and 4 mL of methanol was added to the cartridge. Vacuum was applied and the eluent was collected. 2.5 mL of isopropanol was then added to the cartridge. Vacuum was applied and the eluent was collected in the same collection tube and was concentrated to dryness under a gentle stream of nitrogen. The residue was dissolved in 1 mL of mobile phase (methanol). Table 2.3 summarises the SPE process.



Table 2.4: SPE methods

2.2.6.2 Identification of polyphenolics in Iranian honey using High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC)

Prior to HPLC analysis, the dried phenolic extracts obtained from SPE were redissolved in methanol and filtered through a 0.45 mm Millipore filter (Millipore Corp., Bedford, MA). HPLC analysis was performed on an LC-10A series liquid chromatography (Shimadzu, Japan), equipped with a C_{18} column (ZORBAX Eclipse Plus C_{18} 5 μ m 4.6 x 150 mm), thermostated at 40°C. A gradient elution was modified to separate the extracted flavonols. Solvent (A) was 5.0% acetic acid in water and solvent (B) was 5.0% acetic acid in methanol. Elution was performed at a solvent flow rate of 1.0 ml/min. The gradient profile of the system was 15% solvent B at the initial stage, 35% solvent B at 10 min, 40% solvent B at 20 min, 97% solvent B at 30 min, 40% solvent B at 50 min, 35% solvent B at 75 min, and again 15% solvent B at 90 min. The eluted flavonoids were monitored at 280

nm, and identified by comparing the chromatography retention times with those of authentic standards. Quantitative levels were determined from the UV absorption during HPLC, and from the extinction coefficient which was obtained from the external standards. Recovery was measured by adding pure standards to the honey samples prior to analysis; the percentage of recovery was estimated by comparing the individual HPLC peak areas measured for the samples before and after the addition of the standards.

2.2.6.3 Identification of polyphenolics in Iranian honey using gas chromatographymass spectrometry (GCMS)

The analysis of the extracts for phenolic acids was performed using an Agilent 5890 II GC, equipped with an Agilent 5972 MS detector. The column used was an HP-5MS (Crosslinked 5% phenylmethylsiloxane) capillary column (30 m X 0.25 mm i.d., 0.25 mm film thickness) and the gas carrier was helium, at 1 mL/min rate. The injector and MS transfer line temperatures were maintained at 220°C and 290°C respectively. For the analysis of the honey, the oven temperature was held at 40°C for 3 min, raised to 180°C at 4°C/min and then to 250°C at 10°C/min (5 min hold). As honey is a complex sample, slower temperature increase is required to achieve a better separation of the isolated compounds. 1 mL of the extract was injected in a split less mode. The identification of the honey samples with authentic standards from the database.

2.2.6.4 Identification of polyphenolics in Iranian honey using liquid chromatographymass spectrometry (LCMS) The identification of phenolic compounds in the Iranian honey samples was done using liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC–MS) at a Shimadzu Laboratory in Singapore.

The commercial phenolics standards used in this study were catechin, epicatechin, chlorogenic acid, gallic acid, coumaric acid, ellagic acid, ferulic acid, morin hydrate, eriodictyol, quercetin, naringenin, apigenin, kaempferol, hesperetin, chrysin, galangin and rutin. Stock solutions of phenolic acid standards were prepared with water and stock solutions of flavonoids standards were prepared with methanol. Diluted standard mix was prepared with water. All solutions were filtered through 0.45 m membranes (Millipore) and degassed prior to use.

2.2.6.5 Identification of polyphenolics in Iranian honey using atmospheric pressure chemical ionization liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LCMS-APCI)

Polyphenolic analyses by atmospheric pressure chemical ionization liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry LC-APCI-MS were carried out using an LC and LC/MS Trap (VL) mass spectrometer (Agilent with atmospheric pressure chemical ionization). The LC system includes a G1379A on line degasser, a G1311A quaternary pump, a 1313A auto sampler, a G1316A thermostatic column control, and a G1315A diode array detection (DAD), all of which were controlled by the Lab Solution software. The LC separation was performed on a reversed-phase Agilent C_{18} column at 40°C. The mobile phase consisted of 1% formic acid in water (solvent A) and 1% formic acid in methanol (Solvent B) with the following gradient; 10% methanol (B) flowed through the column with 20% solvent A for 0.50 min, then was increased to 87% methanol (B) by 5.50 min, to

87% methanol (B) by 6.50 min, followed by binary gradient system. Finally, the gradient was changed to 20% methanol by 7.00 min and this composition was held until 8 min. The flow rate was 1.0 ml min. The injection volume was 20 μ l with the UV detector set to an absorbance wavelength of 210-260 nm. The following APCI parameters were used (optimized depending on compounds); dry gas (N₂) flow, 2.50 L/min and dry gas temperature 400° C; the ion trap mass spectrometer was operated in negative and positive ion mode with a scanning range from m/z 1000. In addition, the activation energy for the MS experiment was set to 1V.

2.2.6.6 Identification of polyphenolics in Iranian honey using electrospray ionizationliquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LCMS-ESI)

The identification of phenolic compounds of Iranian honeys was done using liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC–MS-ESI) at a Shimadzu Laboratory in Singapore.

The honey samples were analyzed using a Shimadzu liquid chromatography system consisting of binary pumps LC20-AD, degasser DGU-20A5, column oven CTO-20AC, autosampler SIL-20AC, detector UV SPD 20A connected to 3200 QTRAP Mass spectrometer (Applied Biosystem/MDS SCIEX). Compounds were separated on an Agilent C₁₈ column. The mobile phase consisted of eluent A (1% formic acid in water) and eluent B (1% formic acid in methanol). The mobile phase was delivered at 0.2 ml/min in linear gradient mode: 0–3 min 22% B, 10 min 100% B, 12 min 100% B, 13 min 22% B, and 16 min 22% B. An MS system equipped with ESI operated in negative and positive ion modes.

2.2.6.7 Identification of polyphenolics in Iranian honey using liquid chromatographymass spectrometry-mass spectrometry-ion trap-time-of-flight (LCMSMS-IT-TOF)

The Shimadzu LCMS-IT-TOF system comprised of a liquid chromatography mass spectrometer which is connected to an auto sampler (SIL-20AC HT), a solvent delivery pump (LC-20AD), and a column oven (CTO-20AC) with a photodiode array detector (SPD-M20A). A C₁₈ (ZORBAX Eclipse Plus C₁₈ 5 µm, 4.6 x 150 mm) column was used with a flow rate of 1.0000 mL/min at 40°C. Reversed-phase HPLC separations were carried out using a Phenomenex (Torrance, CA, USA), ZORBAX Eclipse Plus C₁₈ 5µm 4.6 x 150 mm column, protected by a Gemini C₁₈ guard cartridge. A Micromass Quattro Micro triple quadrupole mass spectrometer equipped with an electrospray ionisation (ESI) source was operated in negative ion mode (Waters, Milford, MA). The mobile phase was acetonitrile (B) and water with 0.1 % formic acid (A). The gradient was programmed at 8% B (1 min), 15% B (3 min), 25% B (5 min), 40% B (10 min), 50% B (35 min), 100% B (50 min), 100% B (55 min), 8% B (60 min), and stopped at 65 min. The column was maintained at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min at 40 °C. The injection volume was 15 µL. UV-Vis absorption spectra were recorded on-line during each HPLC analysis. The mass spectra were obtained by electrospray ionisation in negative ion mode, with the following operating parameters: capillary voltage, 3 kV; cone voltage, 25 V; extractor, 5 V. The source temperature was 100°C, and the desolvation temperature was 350°C. The cone gas flow was set to 70 L/h and the desolvation gas flow was set to 500 L/h.

Flavonoids were identified by comparisons of their retention times and spectral characteristics with the reference compounds, using the MS solution software. The tentative identification of compounds for which standard compounds were available was obtained by comparing the elution order, UV spectra, m/z values and MS characteristics with data from the literature.

2.2.7 Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using SPSS and the SAS software computer package . A complete random design was used. Arcsine transformation of all percentage and ratio data before ANOVA analysis was done in order to normalize data.

CHAPTER THREE

RESULTS AND DISCUSION

3.1 PHYSICO-CHEMICAL PROPERTIES OF HONEY

3.1.1 Honey color

In Iran the wide assortment of honeys available is a result of production in different regions with specific climatic conditions and a wide range of floral sources. The colour of honey is one of the characteristics that serve to indicate the plant source. It ranges from yellow through orange, red and red-brown to nearly brown (Table 3.1).

There is a wide variety of honeys with different tastes and colours, depending on their botanical origin . Many researchers found that honeys with dark colour have a higher total phenolic content and consequently a higher antioxidant capacity . The dark colour is related to the content of minerals, pollen and phenolics, and is characteristic of floral origin . Darkening of honey during storage may occur because of Maillard reactions, fructose caramelization and reactions of polyphenols. The degree of darkening depends on the temperature and/or time of storage .

Table 3.1: 40 Colour of Iranian honey samples.

Sample	Honey type	Colour	Sample	Honey type	Colour
no.			no.		
1	Crocus sativus	red- brown	21	Mentha piperita	brown
2	Berberis	brown	22	Polyfloral	orange
3	Foeniculum vulgare	brown	23	Malus domestica	brown
4	Citrus	yellow	24	Polyfloral	brown
5	Thyme (Astragallus,Thistle)	brown	25	Vitex agnus castus	brown
6	Tamarix(Rosmarinus officinalis)	brown	26	cotton	yellow
7	Polyfloral	brown	27	helianthus	brown
8	Sunflower (alfalfa, Lotus)	yellow	28	Polyfloral	orange
9	polyfloral	brown	29	Polyfloral	brown
10	polyfloral	orange	30	eucalypyus	yellow
11	Lavandula angustifolia	brown	31	Ferula gumosa	brown
12	polyfloral	brown	32	Centaurea cyanus	brown
13	polyfloral	orange	32	Polyfloral	red
14	Prunus	brown	34	Robinia pseudoacacia	brown
15	polyfloral	brown	35	Polyfloral	brown
16	polyfloral	orange	36	Prunus domestica	brown
17	Rosmarinus officinalis	brown	37	Prunus persica	brown
18	polyfloral	brown	38	polyfloral	orange
19	Foeniculum vulgare	brown	39	Pyrus communis	brown
20	polyfloral	orange	40	Citrus limon	yellow

3.1.2 Analyses of pH values

Previously, the pH of honey was evaluated by measuring the percent acidity of formic acid. However, with the discovery of other acids in honey, it is now known that formic acid is one of the least important acids in honey. In terms of sugar acids, gluconic acid was found to be the main acid in honey and results are normally expressed as "percentage of gluconic acid" by multiplying the numbers by 0.0196. Nevertheless, the term "milli equivalents per kilo" is used to avoid suggesting that honey contains a single

acid.

All the honey samples in this study have weak acidic properties with the pH ranging from 3.14 to 4.95 (Table 3.2). In general, honey is acidic in nature, regardless of their geographical origin.

Honey generally tastes like weak acid. Acids in honey represent less than 0.5 percent of its total composition. The level of acidity not only contributes to the taste, but is also responsible for the stability of honey against various microorganisms. Various acids have been characterized in honey. Gluconic acid is the most important. Gluconic acid is produced by glucose oxidase from the stomach of bees. Other acids present in honey are formic, acetic, butyric, lactic, oxalic, tartaric, maleic, succinic, pyruvic, pyroglutamic, α -ketoglutaric glycolic, citric and malic acids .

Table 3.2: pH values of Iranian honey samples.

Sample no.	рН	Sample no.	pН
1	3.91±11	21	3.50±22
2	4.85±18	22	3.14±18
3	4.73±14	23	3.81±13
4	3.77±17	24	3.79±15
5	4.87±22	25	3.82±14
6	4.95±07	26	3.74±19
7	4.68±15	27	3.79±22

8	4.82±09	28	3.19±15
9	3.92±14	29	3.23±24
10	3.54±22	30	3.98±18
11	3.22±72	31	3.20±14
12	4.11±38	32	3.18±11
13	3.81±41	32	3.14±10
14	3.62±10	34	3.88±12
15	3.42±22	35	3.47±15
16	3.59±15	36	4.12±19
17	3.14±14	37	3.71±13
18	3.77±19	38	3.96±19
19	3.49±12	39	3.84±25
20	3.40±17	40	3.59±17

n=3

3.1.3 Analyses of moisture content

Water content is a good criterion to establish honey quality; high moisture content can produce honey fermentation during storage, resulting in the formation of ethyl alcohol and carbon dioxide. The alcohol can be further oxidized into acetic acid and water with the ensuing sour taste . Honey moisture content depends on various factors such as harvesting season; degree of maturity reached in the hive and climatic factors . Values between 17.1 g/100 g (honey number 1 which is saffron honey) and 19.8 g/100 g (honey number 4 which

is citrus) were obtained (Table 3.3). In addition to honey number 4, the other top five honey samples with high moisture content were honey numbers 5, 2, 3, 6 and 8, with moisture content of 18.1%, 18.3%, 18.7%, 19.2%, 19.5% and 19.6%, respectively. All the tested honeys had moisture content below 20%, which is the maximum prescribed limit as per the Codex standard for honey.

Table 3.3: Iranian Honey Moisture content.

Sample no.	Moisture content	Sample	Moisture content
	(%)	no.	(%)
1	19.1	21	17.1
2	18.3	22	19.2
3	18.7	23	18.2
4	19.8	24	18.5
5	18.1	25	18.0
6	19.2	26	17.6
7	19.6	27	17.8
8	19.5	28	17.4

9	18.2	29	17.3
10	18.4	30	18.7
11	18.7	31	18.3
12	17.9	32	18.1
13	19.2	32	18.5
14	17.5	34	17.3
15	18.0	35	17.4
16	18.7	36	17.1
17	17.1	37	17.3
18	18.4	38	17.7
19	17.7	39	17.9
20	17.4	40	19.1

3.1.4 Analyses of hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) content

Subsequent analyses were only performed on 8 honey samples that were selected based on their moisture content and pH as well as their medicinal uses. Table 3.4 shows that the HMF content is highest in berberis honey with a value of 0.78 ± 3.7 mg/kg and is the lowest in citrus honey which contained 0.011 ± 3.6 mg/kg HMF. Analyses for the HMF content of the selected 8 honeys were carried out based on the Institute of Standards and Industrial Research of IRAN (ISIRI, 1998). The standardization of honey is possible if the analytical analysis is controlled. ISIRI is responsible for setting the standard of Persian honeys. In this research, the Iranian honeys were selected based on ISIRI (1998).

Table 3.4: HMF content of 8 selected Iranian honeys analysed by spectrophotometry.

Honey	Saffro	Berberis	Vulgare	Citrus	Thyme	Tamarix	Polyfloral	Sunflower
Туре	n							
HMF	0.18	0.78	0.34	0.01	0.45	0.29	0.70	0.69
content	± 2.1	± 3.7	± 0.9	± 3.6	± 1.5	± 3.2	± 2.7	± 1.5
(mg/kg)								

3.1.5 Characterization of sugar profiles in honey using gas chromatography (GC) and high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)

Levulose, dextrose, saccharose and maltose were analyzed using GC and HPLC. The average content of sugar, sugar composition and Fructose/Glucose (F/G) ratio are presented in Table 3.5. Levulose was the main sugar found in all 8 honey samples followed by dextrose, maltose and saccharose. Generally, honey with a high fructose content are sweeter compared to those with high glucose content. Fructose can be produced from the action of glucose oxidase. The higher fructose content of honey will increase the Fructose/Glucose ratio.

Based on Table 3.5, there are differences between the results of the sugar content measured using HPLC and GC. In this study, it is assumed that sugars could ionize better in GC than HPLC. Therefore, the differences in sugar content between GC and HPLC could be due to differences in the polarity of the sugars. Generally, GC is more reliable for analysis of polar compounds like sugars whereas HPLC is better for non-polar compounds.

Table 3.5: The amount and composition of sugars and fructose/glucose (F/G) ratio in 8 selected honey samples measured using gas chromatography and high performance liquid chromatography

Honey type	Levulo	se (%)	Dextro	ose (%)	Saccharo	ose (%)	Maltos	e (%)	F/G	ratio
51	GC	HPLC	GC	HPLC	GC	HPLC	GC	HPLC	GC	HPLC
Saffron	$35.47\pm$	37.77	31.66±3	29.47±	1.24±	0.02±	5.28±	4.07±	1.08	1.28
	2.17	± 1.81	.8	1.93	0.61	0.03	0.16	0.77		
Berberis	$38.31\pm$	32.38±	22.09±2	29.0±	0.55±	N.D.	7.13±	3.0±	1.73	1.10
	1.72	3.19	.32	3.0	0.41		0.29	0.17		
Vulgare	39.21±	34.44±	28.34±1	$27.80\pm$	0.26±	0.07±	9.29±	7.19±	1.38	1.24
	2.48	4.57	.79	2.66	0.11	0.05	0.18	1.10		
Citrus	$45.52\pm$	32.76±	25.81±1	31.38±	0.50±	0.50±	5.19±	4.61±	1.76	1.04
	2.53	2.61	.43	2.40	0.51	0.11	0.49	0.05		
Thyme	$34.25\pm$	33.46±	28.22±2	29.49±	0.23±	0.13±	11.65±	4.20±	1.21	1.13
	1.52	3.17	.37	2.85	0.79	0.13	0.72	0.61		
Tamarix	$37.73\pm$	38.37±	19.11±3	31.0±	0.62±	N.D.	15.21±	$4.42\pm$	1.97	1.21
	3.71	8.56	.9	6.0	0.15		0.66	1.04		
Polyflora	$42.28\pm$	32.76±	27.68±5	26.0±	0.20±	N.D.	6.59±	$4.93\pm$	1.52	1.25
1	3.12	1.56	.29	1.0	0.2		1.03	0.64		
Sunflowe	39.44±	32.83±	28.88±2	30.0±	1.75±	N.D.	6.9±	4.86±	1.36	1.06
r	1.56	2.13	.03	1.0	0.29		0.81	0.21		

(All results are expressed as mean \pm std dev).

3.2 Analyses for total phenolic content and antioxidant activities

3.2.1 Determination of total phenolic content

Eight of the selected Iranian honeys were used in this study. Varying antioxidant activities and total phenolic content were expected for each honey sample because of different floral sources of the honeys . Honey phenolics were extracted and recovered by base hydrolysis and ethyl acetate liquid-liquid extraction (LLE). For all the eight honeys, the recovered polyphenolic fractions from each 10 g of honey yielded approximately 124.5 ± 1.85 mg extract (results are the mean of 20 observations). Appropriate dilutions were prepared with a final concentration of 4, 2, 1, 0.5 and 0.25 mg/ml; and then tested for total phenolic content and antioxidant activity.

Figure 3.1 shows the gallic acid standard curve for measuring the phenolic content of the honeys. The total phenolic content of saffron honey was found to be highest with a value of $2.09 \pm 1.25 \ \mu\text{g/mg}$ which differs significantly in comparison with other types of Iranian honeys (P <0.001) (Table 3.6). However, sunflower honey (0.29±1.48 μ g/mg) showed the lowest total phenolic content. As shown in Figure 3.2, a linear relationship

existed between extract concentrations and their total phenolic content.



Figure 3.1: Total phenolic content calibration curve prepared from 1, 2.5, 5, 7.5 and 10 μ g/mg gallic acid. Determination was carried out using Folin-Ciocalteau reagent procedure.

Table 3.6	: Determination	of total phenolic	content of honey.
-----------	-----------------	-------------------	-------------------

Type of Honey	Total phenolic content (µg/mg)
Saffron	2.09 ±1.25

Berberis	1.95±1.82
Vulgare	1.30±2.74
Citrus	1.22±1.57
Thyme	1.15±2.39
Tamarix	1.09±1.05
Polyfloral	0.71±2.56
Sunflower	0.29±1.48



Figure 3.2: Total phenolic content of the ethyl acetate extracts of honey. Determination was carried out using Folin-Ciocalteau reagent procedure, and calculated from standard gallic acid graph.

3.2.2 Determination of the DPPH radical-scavenging activity of honey (DPPH Assay)

The highest DPPH radical scavenging activity was in saffron honey with a percentage inhibition of $82.4 \pm 7.4\%$ whereas the lowest was in polyfloral honey ($36.29 \pm 31.9\%$) (Table3.7). However, following the liquid-liquid extraction, there was a significant loss of DPPH radical scavenging activities. In this instance, thyme honey extract showed the highest DPPH radical scavenging activity ($35.21 \pm 0.04\%$), while the lowest was seen in the berberis honey extract ($13.44 \pm 0.04\%$). This implies that antioxidants responsible for the DPPH radical scavenging activities of honey are not only present in the ethyl acetate extract.

Each crude honey and honey extract have specific DPPH radical scavenging capacity. The dose–response curves of the DPPH radical scavenging activities of honey extracts are shown in Figure 3.4. It was found that through all concentrations that were tested, the DPPH radical scavenging ability of thyme and sunflower honey extracts were significantly higher (P < 0.001) than the other 6 honey extracts. The DPPH radical scavenging activities of the honey extracts increased in response to increasing extract concentration up to 2 mg/ml, at which it reached a steady state and the reaction curve showed a plateau; indicating that addition of 2 mg/ml of citrus, polyfloral, tamarix, berberis, vulgare and saffron and honey extracts resulted in a complete reduction of DPPH

used in the test. Therefore, any increase of the extract concentration would not show any increase in the activity. On the other hand, the DPPH radical scavenging activity of thyme and sunflower honey extracts also increased in response to the increase in extract concentration but without reaching an endpoint even by using a concentration of 4 mg/ml.



Figure 3.3: Dose-dependent activity of vitamin C on scavenging the DPPH radicals.

Table 3.7: The DPPH radical scavenging activities of crude honey and ethyl acetate extract of honey samples.

Type of Honey	DPPH radical scavenging activity (% inhibition)	
	Crude honey	Ethyl acetate extract of honey
Saffron	82.4 ± 7.4	17.93 ± 0.04
Berberis	80.23 ± 38.2	13.44 ± 0.04
Vulgare	51.38 ± 16.5	15.32 ± 0.03
Citrus	66 ± 46.1	25.13 ± 0.13
Thyme	76.72 ± 30.8	35.21 ± 0.04
Tamarix	43.91 ± 24.7	24.39 ± 0.07
------------	--------------	------------------
Polyfloral	36.29 ± 31.9	18.12 ± 0.01
Sunflower	45.77 ± 21.6	32.41 ± 0.02



Figure 3.4: Dose–response curves for the DPPH radical scavenging activity of the ethyl acetate extract of honey.

3.2.3 Determination of the total antioxidant power of honey (FRAP Assay)

Different honeys show different antioxidant activities in this study (Figure 3.7), depending on their botanical sources . The average FRAP values of the crude honey extracts range from $309.7 \pm 24.1 \mu$ M, in sunflower honey, to $1247.5 \pm 13.5 \mu$ M, in saffron honey (Figure 3.8). Following extraction with ethyl acetate, there was significant loss of ferric reducing activities (from $31.67 \pm 14.2 \mu$ M in sunflower honey to $82.22 \pm 9.7 \mu$ M in saffron honey) (Figure 3.9). This again implies that antioxidants responsible for the

antioxidant activities of honey are not only present in the ethyl acetate extract. Figure 3.10 shows the dose-response curve for the FRAP analyses of the honey samples. Activities were more rapid at lower concentrations and gradually slowed down at higher concentrations of honeys.

The Iranian honeys with high content of antioxidant activities are potentially useful as a source of nutraceuticals. All the extracts of selected Iranian honeys showed the presence of antioxidant activities. Honey phenolics exhibit different antioxidant activities. Generally, the darker the honey, the higher is its phenolic content and antioxidative power. This result shows similar pattern to the study by Almahdi and Kamaruddin .



Figure 3.5: FeSO₄ standard curve for analysis of ferric reducing antioxidant potential (FRAP) of honey. Absorbance change due to Fe (III) - TPTZ reduction by FeSO₄ was monitored at 593 nm.



Figure 3.6: Ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) of crude honey extracts (μ M). Absorbance change due to Fe (III) - TPTZ reduction by antioxidants in honey extract was monitored at 593nm. Values were then related to that given by a standard of Fe (II). Results represent mean of five determinations (± Std. Dev.).



Figure 3.7: Ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) of the ethyl acetate extracts of honey (μ M). Absorbance change due to Fe (III) - TPTZ reduction by antioxidants in honey extract was monitored at 593nm; Values were then related to that given by a standard of Fe (II). Results represent mean of five determinations (± Std. Dev.).



Figure 3.8: Dose–response curves for the TAP of the crude honey extracts.

3.2.4 Relationship between the antioxidant activities of honey and their phenolic content

A high positive correlation was found between the two parameters which were between the antioxidant activities of honeys, and their phenolic content, indicating the role of phenolics in the antioxidant activity of honey. In addition to phenolics, there may be other minor organic compounds contributing to the antioxidant activities of honey.

As a result, a strong positive correlation was seen between DPPH radical scavenging activities and total phenolic content of the honey samples (Figure 3.10). A moderately strong positive correlation was observed between FRAP and total phenolic content (Figure 3.9), further strengthening the contribution that polyphenols play in providing antioxidant activities.



Figure 3.9: Correlation between the ferric reducing antioxidant power of honey extracts and their total phenolic content.



Figure 3.10: Correlation between the DPPH radical scavenging activity of honey and their total phenolic content.

3.3 Analyses on the effect of honey on performance and immune response using an animal model

Honey can play an important role in providing feed antioxidants in a highly palatable form , and can be used as a natural antioxidant to reduce the negative effects of lipid oxidation in chicks and during meat processing, as recommended by Antony et al. . A previous study by Raji (2006) showed that the honey supplement had metabolizable energy content increased by about 10%. This content might be derived from the breakdown of non-starch polysaccharides. Chicken fed honey in water showed better performance characteristics and feed conversion ratio .

Depending on the botanical sources, honeys showed various antioxidant activities and carbohydrate profiles. In this study, the polyfloral honey that was used was harvested from north east of Iran. Honey with high antioxidant activity is potentially a good source of nutraceuticals. The antioxidant properties of honey were measured successfully and generally, TPC, DPPH and FRAP showed a variety of activities.

Animal studies were designed to directly examine daily feed or dry matter intake of broilers. Since the chicks were fed ad libitum, the primary research have been to examine the response to different diets at some fixed point associated with final weight, rather than to characterize feed intake. Nevertheless, exposure of chicks to infectious agents induces immune responses that result in reductions in food consumption and weight gain. The effect of honey on performance and immune response remains unclear. Six treatments were conducted to investigate their effects on the chicks' immune system and performance. In this study, the chicks were feed polyfloral honey and different types of carbohydrates (the carbohydrate selected was based on the main carbohydrates found in honey) for three days. The treatment groups consisted of: Normal diet as control (T1), diet + 3 g/kg dextrose

(T2), diet + 3 g/kg saccharose (T3), diet + 3 g/kg polyfloral honey (T4), diet + 3 g/kg levulose (T5), and diet + 3 g/kg maltose (T6).

As a result, feed administration of honey, or other treatments, did not change the chicks' body weight (Table 3.8), chicks' daily weight gain (Table 3.9), food consumption (Table 3.10), food conversion ratio (Table 3.11) and the organ weight of the broilers (Table 3.12), of performance utilization. The food conversion ratio (FCR is a measure of a broiler efficiency in converting feed mass into increased body mass) accretion was not influenced by the honey supplements or carbohydrate intake. It was seen that polyfloral honey (T4) was the most effective treatment on daily weight gain (Table 3.9) among the different groups, and could be effective on the food conversion ratio (FCR) of the chicks below 21 days old (Table 3.11). In this regard, the dietary honey required to maximize chicks' food efficiency maybe for longer period (more than 3 initial days).

Results from this study show that the different dietary treatments did not change weight gain, food intake, and efficiency of food utilization; nevertheless, the immune response in avian influenza anti body titer (Table 3.8) and newcastle anti body titer (Table 3.9) of the animals was not affected significantly. As a result, feeding of honey administration did not affect performance, nor did it affect the diet required to maximize immune response.

As a result, the addition of polyfloral honey treatment (T4), especially during the early ages of the chickens may improve performance (Table 3.8), and may decrease the need for other supplements such as carbohydrates. Moreover, for instance, honey contains more than 80% different sugars, mostly fructose and glucose (Cherbuliez, 2001). This was possibly due to the antioxidant content of polyfloral honey, which might affect the chickens' performance and which was mixed to the oligosaccharides and sugars inside

honey. Morover, carbohydrate may affect chickens as prebiotic. Research has shown that prebiotics have the ability to enhance immune responses and anecdotal evidence that honey can stimulate immune function. In addition, honey has been suggests demonstrated to stimulate antibody production during primary and secondary immune responses against thymus-dependent and thymus- independent antigens. Long-term feeding of honey has been shown in the laboratory to have a number of health benefits, including improved weight regulation, decreased oxidative damage and improved cognitive function compared with animals fed sucrose or a sugar-free diet and it appears that honey may also stimulate immune function in animals. It is also possible that the non-sugar components of the honey may be responsible for the enhanced immune-modulatory effects. It is also possible that the antioxidant content of the honey may have contributed to its immune-modulatory effects. Although there are no studies directly investigating the effects of honey antioxidants on immune function, other antioxidant compounds have been shown to stimulate immune function in vitro and in vivo.

The increase of antibody titer for avian influenza (Table 3.13), only in honey supplemented diet, may have been due to the antioxidant properties of honey. It seems honey antioxidant was able to protect immature lymphocytes from damage by free radicals due to oxidation, thus enhancing the immune system of the broilers. It assumed antioxidants in honey may improve chicks' performance and immune response.

 Table 3.8: Effect of different treatment on chick body weight

Treatments	CHICK BODY WEIGHT (gram)					
	21 DAY	42 DAY	56 DAY			
T1	555.5±8.09b	1867.5±15.7	2374.75±12.5			
T2	591.25±7.03ab	1858.25±13.4	2398.75±13.08			
Т3	598.25±9.93ab	1836.75±16.47	2381.25±11.61			
T4	646.25±5.64a	1857.25±14.1	2422.0±10.03			
T5	555.5±10.27b	1833.0±14.51	2385.25±13.11			
Т6	604.75±8.24ab	1869.25±16.9	2399.75±16.41			

Table 3.9: Effect of different treatment on the chicks' daily weight gain.

Treatments	DAILY WEIGHT GAIN (g/chicks/day)					
	0-21DAY	21-42 DAY	42-56 DAY	TOTAL		
T1	521.25±14.4b	1302±12.22 507.25±15.21		2330.5±11.0 7		
T2	548±15.01b	1267±8.09	540.5±13.03	2355.5±14.32		
Т3	554.5±13.6ab	6ab 1238.5±14.42 544.5±		2337.5±13.74		
T4	602.5±10.07a	1225.5±11.04	564.75±16.2	2378.25±12.07		
T5	512.25±8.9b	±8.9b 1291.25±15.55 552.25±8.51		2342.0±10.44		
T6	561.5±11.0ab	1289.75±13.06	530.5±15.85	2356.5±13.02		

Table 3.10: Effect of different treatment on food consumption.

Treatments	FOOD CONSUMPTION (g/chicks/day)					
11 cutiliteitts	0-21 DAY 21-42 DAY 42-56 DAY		TOTAL			
T1	911±15.05	2594.25±18.66	1762.75±18.9	5268.0±10.0 1		
T2	909.25±19.8	2536±10.31	1793±11.42	5238.25±13.41		
Т3	924.75±16.17	2558±13.33	1776.5±14.07	5259.25±11.28		
T4	917.75±10.51	2537.75±11.19	1866.25±15.99	5321.75±12.39		
T5	881.0±18.2	2653.5±19.2	1751.5±11.78	5259.75±14.37		
Т6	898.75±11.09	2617.5±17.46	1744±20.41	5260.25±17.3		

Table 3.11: Effect of different treatment on food conversion ratio (FCR: for every one broiler, the certain amount of feed was consumed).

Treatments	Food Conversion Ratio						
Treatments	0-21DAY	21-42 DAY	42-56 DAY	TOTAL			
T1	1.75±0.04a	1.99±0.02	3.48±0.01	2.26±0.01			
T2	1.67±0.06ab	2.01±0.04	3.32±0.03	2.22±0.02			
Т3	1.67±0.01ab	2.07±0.09	3.27±0.06	2.25±0.03			
T4	1.52±0.05b	2.07±0.07	3.31±0.05	2.24±0.04			
Т5	1.72±0.02a	2.06±0.06	3.19±0.09	2.25±0.0			
Т6	1.61±0.09ab	2.03±0.01	3.29±0.04	2.23±0.06			

Table 3.12: Effect of different treatments on the organ weight of the broilers.

	Organ weight of broilers						
Treatments	Liver	Pancreas	Abdominal Fat	Spleen	Ventriculus Weight		
T1	55.75±3.5	6.75±0.35	31.5±6.29	4±0.33	274.25±8.21		
T2	57±7.27	6.25±0.28	57.25±5.52	4.75±0.39	309.75±4.35		
Т3	49±6.54	5±0.33	40.5±3.48	3±0.29	243±5.8		
T4	49.25±5.71	6.25±0.31	46.25±4.95	3.25±0.35	287±7.19		
T5	56.25±4.39	4.5±0.35	31.25±8.17	3.25±0.31	278.25±6.5		
T6	48.75±8.4	5±0.3	38.75±7.32	3.5±0.37	268.75±3.9		

 Table 3.13: HI Test for Avian Influenza

Treatment	Titer (%)
1	3.75
2	3.5
3	5
4	5.5
5	5.25
6	4.5

Table 3.14: HI Test for New

Treatment	Titer (%)
1	5.5
2	5.75
3	5.5
4	5.25
5	5.25
6	5

In this experiment, chicks given polyfloral honey (T4) showed significantly higher weight gain (Table 3.8). Moreover, feed conversion ratio (Table 3.11) decreased meaningfully (0-21 days). There were no significant differences in food consumption

between the chicks treated with the different carbohydrate treatments and those treated with poly floral honey treatment (Table 3.10).

3.4 Cytotoxicity of honey on breast cancer cell lines

The present study was undertaken with the goal to determine the anti-cancer properties of two Iranian honey extracts, sunflower (which has the lowest antioxidant activities) and saffron (which has the highest antioxidant activities) by measuring their effects on cell viability/proliferation of breast cancer cells.

The dose response curve related to the effect of honey on the viability of MCF-7 cells is illustrated in Figure 3.11. Sunflower honey extract showed minimal inhibition of MCF-7 cells while Saffron honey extract could inhibit MCF-7 cell viability. Some of the polyphenols of honey extract like caffeic acid (CA), caffeic acid phenyl ester (CAPE), chrysin (CR), galangin (GA), quercetin (QU), acacetin (AC), kaempferol (KF),Zinocembrin (PC), pinobanksin (PB) and apigenin (AP) as effective pharmacological agents play pivotal roles in curing different cancers. Polyphenols and phenolic acids (vanillic acid and protocatechuic acid and p-hydroxybenzoic acid) are found to be able to constrain cancerrelated pathways and processes ; ; . Figure 3.12 shows the dose response curve related to the honey effect on the viability of MDA MB 231 breast cancer cells. Both honey samples could inhibit the viability of MDA MB 231 cells although Saffron honey was more potent. The higher content of phenolic compounds in Saffron honey could have contributed to the higher cytotoxic effect of this honey on the breast cancer cells.

The MTT assay assesses indirectly the effect of honey on the survival and proliferation of cells. Honey extracts from saffron honey reduced significantly the MCF7

and MBA 231 cell viability.

A main characteristic of most breast cancers is an uncontrolled cellular growth whilst substances that monitor cell proliferation may be useful in cancer prevention. Estrogens are known stimulants of breast cancer whereas the viability/proliferation of MCF-7 cells is a well-established biological test for screening extracts that may function as oestrogen agonists/antagonists.



Figure 3.11: Anti-proliferative effect of honey on MCF-7 breast cancer cells



Figure 3.12: Anti-proliferative effect of honey on MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells

3.5 IDENTIFICATION OF ANTIOXIDANT COMPOUNDS

3.5.1 Isolation, identification and quantification of phenolic compounds using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)

3.5.1.1 Solid phase extraction

The recovery of phenolic compounds in honey extracts ranges from 25% to 85%. Nevertheless, some compounds did not have peak area to measure recoveries (like isorhamnetin). Apigenin had percentage recoveries of 62%. The other flavonoids chrysin, galangin, hesperetin, isorhamnetin, kaempferol, pinocemberin, quercetin and rutin had percentage recoveries of 85%, 37%, 71%, 0, 25%, 43%, 62% and 79%, respectively. The use of a C₁₈ cartridge allowed for a fast sample treatment with low solvent consumption , good clean up and recovery values were 25% to 85% for phenolic compounds in honey samples. The SPE method showed good sensitivity and linearity. This SPE-LC method was found to be suitable for quality control and routine analysis of honey .

3.5.1.2 High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)

A calibration curve of quercetin at 280 nm was used to calculate polyphenol concentration. This is because the different polyphenols show better absorbance at this wavelength. Phenolics in the honey samples were quantified using a calibration curve based on concentrations of 25, 50, and 100 μ g/mL . In the HPLC condition, most polyphenols were detected better at 280 nm, however, some flavonoids were detected clearly at 360 nm and some phenolic acids were detected clearly at 290 nm . Although ellagic acid is a phenolic acid, it is better detected at 345 nm due to its stronger absorbance at this

wavelength .

Figure 3.13 shows HPLC chromatogram of all the standard compounds: apigenin, chrysin, galangin, hesperetin, isorhamnetin, kaempferol, pinocemberin, quercetin and rutin which were detected at 280 nm over 40 minutes. Table 3.15 shows the flavonoid content (ng/100µl) detected in the methanolic extract of all honey samples. Figures 3.14 to 3.21 show the HPLC chromatograms of the 8 honey samples. Quercetin and apigenin were detected at varying levels in all the 8 honey samples. In addition to quercetin and apigenin, kaempferol was also detected but at low levels in thyme honey (Figure 3.18). Several unknown flavonoid peaks were also detected in the samples, which did not correspond with the retention times of the standards used in these analyses.

HPLC is the method of choice for food phenolic investigation and was used in this study for the identification of honey polyphenols . Phenolic compounds were detected at 280 nm and most of the compounds showed convincingly high absorbance at this value . Although there is a similarity between the HPLC chromatograms of all honeys tested, quantitative and qualitative differences were also shown. As a result, the levels of most identified and unidentified compounds were determined from the peak areas .



Figure 3.13: UV chromatogram of phenolic standards at 280 nm.

 Table 3.15: Quantification of flavonoids in the methanolic extract of honeys

No.	Honey types	Apigenin	Quercetin	Kaempferol
1	Crocus sativus	41.74±0.03	3.38±0.01	ND
2	Berberis	19.64±0.02	0.64±0.03	ND
3	Foeniculum vulgare	8.15±0.05	0.64±0.02	ND
4	Citrus	13.54±0.01	0.73±0.04	ND
5	Thyme (Astragallus, Thistle)	29.36 ± 0.04	1.78±0.05	15.23 ± 0.02
6	Tamarix (Rosmarinusofficinalis)	26.82±0.03	13.88±0.02	ND
7	Polyfloral	60.11±0.02	3.39±0.04	ND
8	Sunflower (alfalfa, Lotus)	52.29±0.05	5.53±0.01	ND

The concentration of flavonoids was expressed as ng/100 μl \pm std. dev. ND: not detected.



Figure 3.14: Chromatogram of saffron honey detected by UV absorption at 280 nm.



Figure 3.15: Chromatogram of berberis honey detected by UV absorption at 280 nm.



Figure 3.16: Chromatogram of vulgare honey detected by UV absorption at 280 nm.



Figure 3.17: Chromatogram of citrus honey detected by UV absorption at 280 nm.



Figure 3.18: Chromatogram of thyme honey detected by UV absorption at 280 nm.



Figure 3.19: Chromatogram of tamarix honey detected by UV absorption at 280 nm.



Figure 3.20: Chromatogram of polyfloral honey detected by UV absorption at 280 nm.



Figure 3.21: Chromatogram of sunflower honey detected by UV absorption at 280 nm.

3.5.2 Identification of phenolic acids in honey using GCMS

In this study, the phenolic acids (Table 3.16) were analysed using GCMS as they were less polar and have high basicity in the gas phase . Flavonoids were not analysed by GCMS as they do not hold nitrogen atoms and have low basicity in the liquid phase . The assignment of the hydroxyl-group at p-position for the honey extracts was based on relative abundance of fragments in comparison with MS spectra and retention time of standards . After methylation, the honey phenolic extracts were subjected to GCMS spectrometry . They were analysed under the conditions as described in materials and methods.

No.	Phenolic acids	Formula	Exact mass	Melting point	Molecular	RT
				(°C)	Weight	(min)
1	Benzoic acid	C ₇ H ₆ O ₂	122.12	122.38 °C	122.12	28.9
2	Caffeic acid	C ₉ H ₈ O ₄	180.042259	223-225 °C	180.16	22.4
3	Chlorogenic acid	C ₁₆ H ₁₈ O ₉	354.095082	207 - 209 °C	516.45	11.9
4	Gallic acid	C ₇ H ₆ O ₅	170.021523	250°C	170.12	5.7
5	p-Coumaric acid	C ₉ H ₈ O ₃	164.047344	210–213 °C	164.16	13.9
6	Ellagic acid	C ₁₄ H ₆ O ₈	302.006267	360°C	302.20	29.3
7	Ferulic acid	$C_{10}H_{10}O_4$	194.057909	168-172 °C	194.18	28.1
8	Fumaric acid	C ₄ H ₄ O ₄	116.07	287 °C	116.07	7.2

 Table 3.16: GCMS profiles of phenolic acid standards used in this study.

Some researchers like D'Arcy (2002) and Yao (2004) used LC for identification of phenolic acids ; however, HPLC is a better instrument for detection of flavonoids in honey while GCMS is better for identification of phenolic acids . Gas chromatography with flame ionization detector (GC-FID) analysis can confirm the results obtained from HPLC analysis: combined GCMS analysis also provides the mass spectra for polyphenols.

A variety of phenolic acids were identified in the Iranian honey samples. The phenolic acids that were detected in Iranian honeys included gallic, ellagic, ferrulic, and chlorogenic acids. Figures 3.22-3.29 show the phenolic mass spectra of the honey extracts. Their identities were confirmed by direct comparison with authentic standards and retention times, which were remarkably stable and reproducible , although there were also several unknown peaks which could not be identified.

To our knowledge, this current work is the first report highlighting the use and probable combination of MS spectra in GCMS fingerprinting studies. The results indicate the applicability of this instrumentation in targeted chemometrics studies of phenolic acid compounds of honey.



Figure 3.22: Phenolic acid mass in the methanolic extract of saffron honey.



Figure 3.23: Phenolic acid mass in the methanolic extract of berberis honey.



Figure 3.24: Phenolic acid mass in the methanolic extract of vulgare honey.



Figure 3.25: Phenolic acid mass in the methanolic extract of citrus honey.



Figure 3.26: Phenolic acid mass in the methanolic extract of thyme honey.



Figure 3.27: Phenolic acid mass in the methanolic extract of tamarix honey.



Figure 3.28: Phenolic acid mass in the methanolic extract of polyfloral honey.



Figure 3.29: Phenolic acid mass in the methanolic extract of honey sunflower.

3.5.3 Identification of polyphenols in honey using liquid chromatograpy-mass spectrometry-atmospheric pressure chemical ionization (LCMS-APCI)

LCMS atmospheric pressure chemical ionization (APCI) was investigated in negative and positive modes. The negative mode results in limited fragmentation but provides the highest sensitivity for phenolics . The mass spectra of gallic acid, coumaric acid and ferrulic acid ions occur in negative ionization mode while ellagic acid ions occur in positive ionization mode. As expected, the high level of noise in ionization and the formation of protonated molecules [M+H] + were lower in positive mode than in negative mode . The limit of detection for polyphenols for APCI in the positive and negative mode was 10 mg/L, which could not detect low weight polyphenols . However, the eluent composition could have a significant influence on the (APCI) analysis ionization. The total ion current (TIC) chromatogram represents the summed intensity across the entire range of masses being detected.

Table 3.17 shows the APCI LCMS profiles of phenolic standards used in this analysis. Figures 3.30 and 3.31 show the UV spectra of the phenolic standards measured at 210 nm and 260 nm, respectively. In the 8 honey samples, the TIC chromatograms show 5 peaks as multiple analytes that elute simultaneously, obscuring individual species. Phenolic

acids were not detected in all the 8 honey samples but three flavonoids, quercetin, apigenin and hesperetin were detected. Apigenin was detected in all the 8 honey samples. Quercetin was also found in the honey samples except in citrus honey. Hesperetin was detected in citrus honey. The quercetin (MW 302.236) peak being RT = 6.715 and peaks in negative ionization and positive ionization were 208.05 and 209.55, respectively which was identified in all the honey samples by the LC-MS of total scan PDA. The same peak with a retention time of 3.3 in all the eight honeys were identified as apigenin (MW 270.24) whereby negative ionization and positive ionization were 268.95 and 270.65, respectively. In honey number 4 (citrus honey), only hesperetin was detected in negative ionization and positive ionization which were 301 and 303.08, respectively, showing at RT = 5.578. Generally, the linear range of (APCI) LCMS is usually very wide, hence is useful in analyzing large numbers of phenolics. The advantage of (APCI) LCMS is the fast ionization method for analyzing phenolics with high efficiency . APCI have emerged as a highly useful LCMS method.

Figure 3.32 shows the peaks when standards were injected and the eluting peaks were showing front tailing besides the overlapping observed. However, the gradient system showed reasonable resolution for some of the standards and some overlap between apigenin and hesperetin. The problem of the co-eluting peaks was not possible to solve, although different gradient systems and wavelenghts were used. However, since hesperetin is found at very low concentration in honey samples, therefore it is expected to have negligible interference in the assay of apigenin at 340 nm.

The analysis did not show any specific compounds that can be used as markers for determination of the botanical origins of these different types of Iranian honey. However, the benefit of APCI-LCMS is the fast ionization method of analyzing phenolics with high

efficiency.



Figure 3.30: Mixed standards chromatogram detected at 210 nm



Figure 3.31: Mixed standard chromatogram detected at 260 nm

 Table 3.17: APCI LCMS of phenolic standards used in this analysis.

No	Name	Formula	Exact Mass	Positive M/Z	Negative M/Z	RT
1	Catechin	C ₁₅ H ₁₄ O ₆	290.079038	291.0767	289.0615	0.255
2	Epicatechin	$C_{15}H_{14}O_{6}$	290.079038	291.0767	289.0619	0.300
3	Chlorogenic acid	C ₁₆ H ₁₈ O ₉	354.095082	355.1003	353.0800	0.302
4	Gallic acid	C ₇ H ₆ O ₅	170.021523	ND	169.0062	0.450
5	Coumaric acid	C ₉ H ₈ O ₃	164.047344	ND	163.0366	0.647
6	Ellagic acid	C ₁₄ H ₆ O ₈	302.006267	303.0100	ND	0.683
7	Ferulic acid	$C_{10}H_{10}O_4$	194.057909	ND	193.0467	1.038
8	Morin hydrate	$C_{15}H_{10}O_7$	302.042656	303.0412	301.0244	1.968
9	Eriodictyol	C ₁₅ H ₁₂ O ₆	288.063388	289.0652	287.0510	2.103
10	Quercetin	C ₁₅ H ₁₀ O ₇	302.042653	303.0449	301.0258	2.492
11	Naringenin	C ₁₅ H ₁₂ O ₅	272.2548	273.0670	271.0558	3.095
12	Apigenin	$C_{15}H_{10}O_5$	270.052823	271.0578	269.0446	3.343
13	Kaempferol	$C_{15}H_{10}O_{6}$	286.0477738	287.0533	285.0420	3.468
14	Hesperetin	C ₁₆ H ₁₄ O ₆	302.079038	303.0810	301.0627	3.632
15	Chrysin	$C_{15}H_{10}O_4$	254.057909	255.0623	253.0476	5.278
16	Galangin	C ₁₅ H ₁₀ O ₅	270.052823	271.0588	269.0442	5.613



Figure 3.32 : Chromatogram (TIC) of polyphenol standard mix measured at a wavelength of 340 nm (A) and 290 nm (B).

3.5.4 Identification of polyphenols in honey using electrospray ionization LC-MS

(LCMS-ESI)

The 8 honey samples were diluted with acidified water (pH 2), and analyzed using LCMS-ESI in positive and negative ionization under the same chromatographic conditions. Each compound was identified by LC-MS comparisons with the standards and by comparing its mass with those of the authentic standard. These results can provide good references of LCMS data in honey and can be used to analyze phenolics as the new data base library in the LCMS. Mass spectrometry technology is used to determine the identities and abundances of the phenolic compounds in complex sample such as honey. In combination with liquid chromatography, consequently, a deeper knowledge of phenolic profiles can be obtained and this is crucial for the development of new LCMS data base in analyzing honey phenolics. The data sets obtained from an LCMS experiment are large and highly complex. The outcome of such an experiment is called an LCMS profile. The profile is a collection of total scan photodiode array (PDA), Ultraviolet chromatography (UV) spectrum and electrospray ionization-mass spectra (ESI-MS). Standard components that were identified by UV spectrum and their positive and negative ionization are listed in Table 3.18. As it can be seen in Table 3.19 describes the conditions of electrospray ionization-mass spectrometry (ESI-MS).

Three phenolic acids were identified in saffron (Figure 3.33), polyfloral (Figure 3.39) and vulgare honey (Figure 3.35); they were gallic acid, chlorogenic acid and ferrulic acid. Two phenolic acids were identified in berberis (Figure 3.34) and citrus honey (Figure 3.36); they were gallic acid and chlorogenic acid. Two phenolic acids were identified in thyme (Figure 3.37), sunflower (Figure 3.40) and tamarix honey (Figure 3.38); they were gallic acid, chlorogenic acid and ellagic acid.

Three flavonoids were identified in saffron honey; they were rutin, kaempferol and

hesperetin. Two flavonoids were identified in berberis and polyfloral honey; they were rutin and apigenin. Two flavonoids were identified in vulgare honey; they were quercetin and apigenin. Three flavonoids were identified in citrus honey; they were rutin, apigenin and quercetin. Four flavonoids were identified in thyme honey; they were rutin, apigenin, kaempferol and quercetin. One flavonoid was identified in tamarix honey; it was apigenin.

No	Name	Formula	Exact Mass	Positive M/Z	Negative M/Z	RT
1	Catechin	C ₁₅ H ₁₄ O ₆	290.079038	291.0767	289.0615	7.5
2	Epicatechin	$C_{15}H_{14}O_{6}$	290.079038	291.0767	289.0619	6.5
3	Chlorogenic acid	$C_{16}H_{18}O_9$	354.095082	355.1003	353.0800	6.2
4	Gallic acid	C ₇ H ₆ O ₅	170.021523	ND	169.0062	4.9
5	Coumaric acid	C ₉ H ₈ O ₃	164.047344	ND	163.0366	12.2
6	Ellagic acid	$C_{14}H_6O_8$	302.006267	303.0100	ND	20.8
7	Ferulic acid	$C_{10}H_{10}O_4$	194.057909	ND	193.0467	13.4
8	Morin hydrate	C ₁₅ H ₁₀ O ₇	302.042656	303.0412	301.0244	15.3
9	Eriodictyol	C ₁₅ H ₁₂ O ₆	288.063388	289.0652	287.0510	25.8
10	Quercetin	C ₁₅ H ₁₀ O ₇	302.042653	303.0449	301.0258	32.2
11	Naringenin	C ₁₅ H ₁₂ O ₅	272.2548	273.0670	271.0558	31.1
12	Apigenin	C ₁₅ H ₁₀ O ₅	270.052823	271.0578	269.0446	33.4
13	Kaempferol	C ₁₅ H ₁₀ O ₆	286.047773 8	287.0533	285.0420	31.4
14	Hesperetin	$\overline{C_{16}H_{14}O_6}$	302.079038	303.0810	301.0627	27.4
15	Chrysin	$C_{15}H_{10}O_4$	254.057909	255.0623	253.0476	32.3
16	Galangin	C ₁₅ H ₁₀ O ₅	270.052823	271.0588	269.0442	31.8

Table 3.18: LCMS-ESI profiles of phenolic standards used in this study.

 Table 3.19: Electrospray ionisation (ESI-MS) parameters used in this study.

Parameter	measure
Capillary	5 V
Cone	35 V
Extractor	2.5 V
temperature	350 °C



Figure 3.33: UV Chromatography of saffron Honey



Figure 3.34: UV Chromatography of berberis Honey



Figure 3.35: UV Chromatography of vulgare Honey



Figure 3.36: UV Chromatography of citrus Honey



Figure 3.37: UV Chromatography of thyme Honey



Figure 3.38: UV Chromatography of tamarix Honey


Figure 3.39: UV Chromatography of polyfloral Honey



Figure 3.40: UV Chromatography of sunflower Honey

The present study has established that LCMS-DAD-ESI is an influential tool for the classification and quantification of flavonoids in a complex medium like honey. Several flavonoids were detected in different types of Iranian honeys. Flavonoids do not have nitrogen atoms and have low basicity in the liquid phase. For this reason the configuration of protonated molecules in positive-ion mode is lower than in negative ESI. ESI appear to be favored more than APCI, and with methanol and acetonitrile as the mobile phases, it

provides the best sensitivity. The mass spectra in negative ESI were conquered by deprotonated molecules in negative-ion mode and these ions were selected for collision-activated dissociation studies of the precursor ions. The declustering potential (DP) and collision energy (CE), measured as fragmentor voltage value, were optimized in infusion mode for each compound in the range from 400 to 10V and 130 to 5V, respectively. The voltage required for significant fragmentation was compound dependent parameter (Table 3.19).

3.5.5 Identification of polyphenols in honey using time of flight mass spectrometer (TOF-MS)

The exact mass and retention time of 18 phenolic standards were investigated in this study (Table 3.20). Figure 3.41 shows total ion chromatograms (TIC) for 18 phenolic standards as listed in Table 3.15. Study of ion suppression was used as a method of detection; it was known that this ionization source (ESI) may undergo loss of sensitivity owing to the presence of other compounds that co-elute with the analytes of interest, a phenomenon known as ion suppression . Moreover, this effect might be more pronounced when large sample volumes were injected. Here, we studied the possible effect of ion suppression on the signals of the analytes when 500 μ L of honey sample was injected into the LC-MS/MS system. To accomplish this, the TIC were recorded (Figure 3.41) for a standard aqueous sample at a concentration of 20 ng g–1 in methanol and for a honey sample at a concentration of 20 ng g–1 in UHQ water using the proposed LC-MS/MS positive and negative system. It may be observed that the total signal of the analytes in the standard in UHQ water and in the honey injected was similar both in shape

and in intensity . However, when fortified honey was injected directly into the LC-MS/MS system, the signal of the analytes underwent a strong decrease owing to ion suppression. Tandem MS analysis of phenolics needs to be further studied, in order to improve its suitability, while it fits very well with flavonoid detection .The results obtained should be further confirmed through the analysis of more extended samplings.

NO	NAME	FORMULA	EXACT MASS	POSITIVE m/z	NEGATIVE	RT
					m/z	
1	Catechin	$C_{15}H_{14}O_{6}$	290.079038	291.0767	289.0615	25.2
2	Epicatechin	C ₁₅ H ₁₄ O ₆	290.079038	291.0767	289.0619	22.6
3	Chlorogenic acid	C ₁₆ H ₁₈ O ₉	354.095082	355.1003	353.0800	7.3
4	Gallic acid	C ₇ H ₆ O ₅	170.021523	172.0158	169.0062	4.1
5	Coumaric acid	C ₉ H ₈ O ₃	164.047344	166.0247	163.0366	10.4
6	Ellagic acid	C ₁₄ H ₆ O ₈	302.006267	303.0100	301.0317	9.2
7	Ferulic acid	$C_{10}H_{10}O_4$	194.057909	196.0317	193.0467	14.5
8	Morin hydrate	C ₁₅ H ₁₀ O ₇	302.042656	303.0412	301.0244	14.6
9	Eriodictyol	$C_{15}H_{12}O_6$	288.063388	289.0652	287.0510	19.2
10	Quercetin	C ₁₅ H ₁₀ O ₇	302.042653	303.0449	301.0258	9.7
11	Naringenin	C ₁₅ H ₁₂ O ₅	272.2548	273.0670	271.0558	17.3
12	Apigenin	C ₁₅ H ₁₀ O ₅	270.052823	271.0578	269.0446	12.1
13	Kaempferol	C ₁₅ H ₁₀ O ₆	286.0477738	287.0533	285.0420	12.7
14	Hesperetin	C ₁₆ H ₁₄ O ₆	302.079038	303.0810	301.0627	13.5
15	Chrysin	$C_{15}H_{10}O_4$	254.057909	255.0623	253.0476	23.8
16	Galangin	C ₁₅ H ₁₀ O ₅	270.052823	271.0588	269.0442	26.4
17	Rutin	C ₂₇ H ₃₀ O ₁₆	610	612.0380	609.0264	6.99
18	Pinocembrin	C ₁₅ H ₁₂ O ₄	256.25	258.0341	255.0716	26

 Table 3.20: ITTOF of phenolics standards used in this study.



Figure 3.41: Chromatograms of the phenolic standard solution detected by mass spectral total ion current (1= Catechin, 2= Epicatechin, 3= Chlorogenic acid, 4= Coumaric acid, 5= Coumaric acid, 6= Ellagic acid, 7= Ferulic acid, 8= Morin hydrate, 9= Eriodictyol, 10= Quercetin, 11= Naringenin, 12= Apigenin, 13= Kaempferol, 14= Hesperetin, 15= Chrysin, 16= Galangin, 17= Rutin and 18= Pinocembrin)

The flavonoids galangin, naringenin and quercetin TIC, MIC, MSMS positive and MSMS negative in all honey samples analyzed. Identification of galangin, naringenin and quercetin were obtained by comparing total scan photodiode array (PDA), Ultraviolet chromatography spectra (UV) and electrospray ionization-mass spectrometry (ESI-MS) with TIC chromatogram and tandem MS (MS/MS) spectrum .

Figures 3.42-3.49 show the chromatograms of the 8 honey samples. The chromatograms were obtained using two mass TIC spectrums. It was indicated that most of the honeys had similar, but quantitatively different, phenolic profiles. The Iranian honeys were investigated in different wavelengths which were UV spectrum in 340 nm and UV spectrum 290 nm . Differences in the flavonoid contents were seen among different types of honeys. The main flavonoids detected in all of the honey samples analysed was apigenin, on the basis of its retention time, m/z, UV spectrum and the new profile data which was

made as new data base. Additional MS/MS positive and negative analysis produces the typical ion honey sample of honeys.



Figure 3.42: UV chromatography of saffron honey using TOF



Figure 3.43: UV chromatography of berberis honey using TOF



Figure 3.44: UV chromatography of vulgare honey using TOF



Figure 3.45: UV chromatography of citrus honey using TOF



Figure 3.46: UV chromatography of thyme honey using TOF



Figure 3.47: UV chromatography of tamarix honey using TOF



Figure 3.48: UV chromatography of polyfloral honey using TOF



Figure 3.49: UV chromatography of sunflower honey using TOF

This present work provides a preliminary report highlighting the potential use of combined MS spectra in LCMS-TOF fingerprinting of Iranian honeys. The use of tandem MSMS spectra provides an important tool in the identification of the isolated compounds. The results revealed the applicability of this method in chemometrics studies of phenolics of honey. The flavonoids detected in the honey samples were quercetin, apigenin and kaempferol. The flavonoid quercetin, which originates from nectar, and apigenin were seen in all of the honey samples while kaempferol was identified in only one honey sample.

This study indicated that ITTOF is the best instrument for analysis of phenolics in honey. LC/MS ESI is a better method than LC/MS APCI to identify flavonoids in complex matrix such as honey. Several flavonoids and five phenolic acids were found in different types of honey. However, the results obtained do not support possible markers to confirm the type of honey and further analyses and optimization are needed. It would be necessary to analyse a bigger number of honey samples, with the inclusion of more phenolic standards, in order to establish biomarkers for confirmation of honey types. Therefore, to determine the phenolic profile of honey, it would be necessary to study other phytochemicals such as phenolic acids and flavonoids, followed by the same statistical approach to multivariate analysis. Study of honey extract ion mass spectra of MS and fragment ions made in the source was simplified by the use of elevated cone voltages. The test of product ion mass spectra at high mass resolution allowed definite determination of the important composition of fragment ions. Classification of the fragmentation patterns for positive [M+H] and negative [M-H] ions of phenolic compounds are currently utilised to facilitate investigation of honey flavonoids.

3.5.5.1 Combination studies on the botanical origin of honey and TOF-MS

In this study, the phenolic content of Iranian honeys was investigated using SPE, HPLC, GCMS, LCMS (APCI and ESI) and IT-TOF analysis. Table 3.21 summarises the phenolic compounds detected in the Iranian honey samples using the different instrumentation.

Flavonoid markers i.e. quercetin and apigenin were found in sunflower honey. Apigenin and hesperetin found in the citrus honey can be markers of the floral origin.

This is the first time that saffron honey is characterized as a new type of honey. Flavonoid markers rutin and phenolic acid marker gallic acid were found in saffron honey after liquid-liquid extraction with ethyl acetate and solid phase extraction. The gallic acid and rutin as bioactive markers present in saffron honey are found in high quantities in comparison to other phenolics. Table 3.21: Comparisons among the different methods for analyses of phenolics in the Iranian honeys.

Honey	HPLC	GCMS	LCMS-	LCMS-ESI		LCMS- TOF
	Flavonoid	Phenolic acid	Flavonoid	Phenolic acid	Flavonoid	
Saffron	apigenin, quercetin	gallic acid, ferrulic acid, chlorogenic acid,	apigenin, quercetin	gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, ferrulic acid	rutin, kaempferol, hesperetin	ND
Berberis	apigenin, quercetin	gallic acid, chlorogenic acid	apigenin, quercetin	gallic acid, chlorogenic acid	rutin, apigenin	ND
Vulgare	apigenin, quercetin	gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, ellagic acid	apigenin, quercetin	gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, ferrulic acid	quercetin, apigenin	ND
Citrus	apigenin, quercetin	gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, ellagic acid	apigenin, hesperetin	gallic acid, chlorogenic acid	rutin, apigenin, quercetin	ND
Thyme	apigenin, quercetin, kaempferol	gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, ellagic acid	apigenin, quercetin	gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, ellagic acid	rutin, apigenin, kaempferol, quercetin	ND
Tamarix	apigenin, quercetin	gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, ellagic acid	apigenin, quercetin	gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, ellagic acid	apigenin	ND
Polyfloral	apigenin, quercetin	gallic acid, chlorogenic acid,	apigenin, quercetin	gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, ferrulic acid	rutin, apigenin	ND
Sunflower	apigenin, quercetin	gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, ellagic acid	apigenin, quercetin	gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, ellagic acid	-	ND

CHAPTER 4

CONCLUSION

Medicinal herbs and organic products instead of chemical substances have been studied for their potential in curing different diseases and for preventing the formation of oxidants in food preservation process. Honey as one of these organic and herbal products has received much attention and has variety of uses in medicinal food industry.

Honey, a complex natural tonic, can be used as natural food with antioxidant contents which improves and maintains human and animal health. The biochemical analysis of honey shows that it contains sugars, proteins, moisture, vitamins, minerals, hydroxymethylfurfural, enzymes, phenolics and volatile compounds. Honey composition varies from one country to another. Geographically, Iran is located in a part of the world where multi climates exist in a season which provides bees with various flowers belonging to different seasons. Moreover, mountainous areas rich in medicinal herbs provides ideal environment for producing honey of high quality. Most phenolic compounds discovered in honey possess antioxidant activities . This in turn has led to the exploration of the use of honey in diseases known to involve free radicals such as cancer . There is growing support that food phenolic compounds play a role in preventing cancer .

The study investigates the physicochemical parameters of eight Iranian honey samples with different botanical origins. Different values of pH, moisture and sugar content were observed in these eight types of Iranian honeys. The Iranian honeys contain different carbohydrate's structures. They contain more maltose and less sucrose in comparison to other type of honeys.

The total phenolic content of eight types of Iranian honeys was estimated by a colorimetric method based on the Folin-Ciocalteau reagent. The ferric reducing/antioxidant power (FRAP) assay and the spectrophotometric DPPH (2, 2-Diphenyl-1-Picrylhydrazyl) radical scavenging assay were used for the measurement of the antioxidant activity of the samples. The antioxidant property of the honey samples is mainly due to their phenolic constituents. Moreover, the antioxidant activity

varies, mainly depending on its floral source, phenolic contents, harvest climatic area and environmental conditions. Among these factors, honey phenolics are found to be responsible for most of the antioxidant activities even though their amount is very low in certain honeys. The antioxidant activities of phenolic compounds are mostly attributed to their redox properties. These redox properties can play an important role in quenching and neutralizing free radicals or decomposing peroxides and thus providing protection against various diseases.

A mongst the eight honeys analyzed in this study; the phenolic content, total antioxidant power and radical scavenging activity of saffron honey was found to be highest and showed a dose-response relationship. To analyze the correlation between the antioxidant activity of honeys and their phenolic content, the values for the total antioxidant power of honeys were plotted against the values of their total phenolic content. A significant correlation was found between the total antioxidant power of honeys and their total phenolic content, indicating the role of the phenolic compounds on the antioxidant activity of the honeys. Since different plants contain different phenolic compounds and show variation in their total phenolic content, the significant variation between honeys in their total phenolic contents is due to the variation in their floral sources.

Honey phenolics were extracted and recovered base on hydrolysis and ethyl acetate liquidliquid extraction, together with solid phase extractiony using isolute C_{18} columns, which was used for the first time to recover Iranian honey phenolics. The recovery of phenolic compounds in honey extracts ranges over 25% to 85%.

The separation and quantification of phenolics were carried out. The characterization of phenolics depends on the method of identification. Chromatographic methods were developed for characterization of phenolics in the honey samples. The most important classes of antioxidant polyphenols are flavanone, flavone, flavan, flavonols and phenolic acids. The phenolic acids that were detected in the Iranian honeys included gallic, ellagic, ferulic, and chlorogenic acids. HPLC

was used in this study for the identification of honey phenolics and characterization of flavonoids. Although there is a similarity between the HPLC chromatograms of all honeys tested, quantitative and qualitative differences were also shown. The identification and quantification of quercetin, kaempferol and apigenin were carried out successfully using HPLC. Ten flavonoids were selected in this study. The initial separation of the flavonoids were performed by HPLC. The eluted phenolic compounds were detected at 280 nm because most of the phenolic compounds showed reasonably high absorbance at this value among different wavelengths. HPLC is an efficient instrument for detecting flavonoids in honey whereas GCMS is more suitable for identifying phenolic acids. Phenolic acids including gallic acid, ferulic acid, chlorogenic acid and ellagic acid were identified in the honey samples using GCMS. The results revealed the applicability of this approach in targeted chemometrics studies of phenolics of honey samples.

Mass spectrometric methods illustrate an enormous promise for the characterization of the honey phenolic compounds. LC-MS/MS techniques have been employed for the identification and quantification of phenolic compounds. The linear range for APCI- LCMS is very wide, and is useful in analyzing large numbers of phenolics. The present study has established that ESI-MS was an influential tool for the classification and quantification of flavonoids in honey. This study showed that ITTOF is the best instrument for analysis of phenolics in honey.

This is the first time that saffron honey marker is known. Gallic acid and rutin as bioactive markers present in saffron honey are found in high quantities in comparison to other phenolics. Available literature indicates that no previous studies on antioxidant property have been done on Iranian honeys. This is the first study to evaluate the selected Iranian honeys and may provide useful data for their potential medicinal uses.

Addition of honey to animal feed may provide beneficial effects on weight gain of animals and food conversion efficiency. There was no significant difference in feed intake, weight gain, feed to gain ratio, gastrointestinal tract, abdominal fat, liver, spleen and pancreas in the animal model. Future work related to this research project should focus on the isolation of new phenolic compounds. Confirmation of the fragmentation pattern with high resolution GCTOFMS should also be done. The purified phenolics should be tested for potential antioxidant properties.

Refrences

Abu-Tarboush, H.M., Al-Kahtani, H.A., & El-Sarrage, MS. (1993). Floral-type identification and quality evaluation of some honey types. *Food Chemistry*, 46(1), 13-17.

- Aggarwal, Bharat B, Kumar, Anushree, & Bharti, Alok C. (2003). Anticancer potential of curcumin: preclinical and clinical studies. *Anticancer Res*, 23(1A), 363-398.
- Al-Mamary, M., Al-Meeri, A., & Al-Habori, M. (2002). Antioxidant activities and total phenolics of different types of honey. *Nutrition Research*, *22*(9), 1041-1047.
- Al-Waili, Noori S, & Haq, Afruz. (2004). Effect of honey on antibody production against thymus-dependent and thymus-independent antigens in primary and secondary immune responses. *Journal of Medicinal Food*, 7(4), 491-494.
- Aliferis, Konstantinos A., Tarantilis, Petros A., Harizanis, Paschalis C., & Alissandrakis, Eleftherios. (2010). Botanical discrimination and classification of honey samples applying gas chromatography/mass spectrometry fingerprinting of headspace volatile compounds. *Food Chemistry*, 121(3), 856-862. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2009.12.098.

Alimentarius, C. (2001). Revised codex standard for honey. Codex stan, 12-1982.

- Alissandrakis, E., Tarantilis, P.A., Harizanis, P.C., & Polissiou, M. (2007). Aroma investigation of unifloral Greek citrus honey using solid-phase microextraction coupled to gas chromatographic–mass spectrometric analysis. *Food Chemistry*, *100*(1), 396-404.
- Alissandrakis, Eleftherios, Tarantilis, Petros A., Pappas, Christos, Harizanis, Pashalis C., & Polissiou, Moshos. (2011). Investigation of organic extractives from unifloral chestnut (Castanea sativa L.) and eucalyptus (Eucalyptus globulus Labill.) honeys and flowers to identification of botanical marker compounds. *LWT - Food Science* and Technology, 44(4), 1042-1051. doi: 10.1016/j.lwt.2010.10.002.
- Aljadi, A. M., & Kamaruddin, M. Y. (2003). Isolation and Identification of Phenolic Acids in Malaysian Honey with Antibacterial Properties. *Turk J Med Sci*, *33*, 236.
- Allenby, G.M., & Ginter, J.L. (1995). Using extremes to design products and segment markets. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 392-403.
- Almahdi, A. M., & Kamaruddin, M. Y. (2004). Evaluation of the phenolic contents and antioxidant capacities of two Malaysian floral honeys. *Food Chemistry*, *85*(4), 513-518. doi: 10.1016/s0308-8146(02)00596-4.
- Alzahrani, H.A., Alsabehi, R., Boukraâ, L., Abdellah, F., Bellik, Y., & Bakhotmah, B.A. (2012). Antibacterial and Antioxidant Potency of Floral Honeys from Different Botanical and Geographical Origins. *Molecules*, 17(9), 10540-10549.

- Anklam, Elke. (1998). A review of the analytical methods to determine the geographical and botanical origin of honey. *Food Chemistry*, 63(4), 549-562. doi: 10.1016/s0308-8146(98)00057-0.
- Antony, S., Rieck, J. R., Acton, J. C., Han, I. Y., Halpin, E. L., & Dawson, P. L. (2006). Effect of dry honey on the shelf life of packaged turkey slices. [Article]. *Poultry Science*, 85(10), 1811-1820.
- Antony, S., Rieck, JR, & Dawson, PL. (2000). Effect of dry honey on oxidation in turkey breast meat. *Poultry Science*, *79*(12), 1846-1850.

Apimondia. (2008). Apiculture countries. www.apiculture.com.

Asis's, Moises (Ed.). (2007). Apiterapia 101 para todos. 86-70.

- Atrouse, O.M., Oran, S.A., & Al Abbadi, S.Y. (2004). Chemical analysis and identification of pollen grains from different Jordanian honey samples. *International journal of food science & technology*, *39*(4), 413-417.
- Aviram, Michael, & Fuhrman, Bianca. (2002). Wine flavonoids protect against LDL oxidation and atherosclerosis. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 957(1), 146-161.
- Baker, D.H., & Han, Y. (1994). Ideal amino acid profile for chicks during the first three weeks posthatching. *Poultry Science*, *73*(9), 1441-1447.
- Baltrušaitytė, V., Venskutonis, P.R., & Čeksterytė, V. (2007). Radical scavenging activity of different floral origin honey and beebread phenolic extracts. *Food Chemistry*, *101*(2), 502-514.
- Basualdo, Claudia, Sgroy, Verónica, Finola, Mónica S, & Marioli, Juan M. (2007). Comparison of the antibacterial activity of honey from different provenance against bacteria usually isolated from skin wounds. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 124(3), 375-381.
- Bendich, Arnold J, & Smith, Steven B. (1990). Moving pictures and pulsed-field gel electrophoresis show linear DNA molecules from chloroplasts and mitochondria. *Current Genetics*, 17(5), 421-425.
- Beretta, Giangiacomo, Granata, Paola, Ferrero, Maria, Orioli, Marica, & Maffei Facino, Roberto. (2005). Standardization of antioxidant properties of honey by a combination of spectrophotometric/fluorimetric assays and chemometrics. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 533(2), 185-191. doi: 10.1016/j.aca.2004.11.010.
- Bertoncelj, Jasna., Polak, T., Kropf, U., Korosec, M., & Golob, T. (2011). LC-DAD-ESI/MS analysis of flavonoids and abscisic acid with chemometric approach for the classification of Slovenian honey. [Article]. *Food Chemistry*, 127(1), 296-302. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.01.003.

- Bertoncelj, Jasna, Dobersek, Urska, Jamnik, Mojca, & Golob, Terezija. (2007). Evaluation of the phenolic content, antioxidant activity and colour of Slovenian honey. *Food Chemistry*, 105(2), 822-828. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2007.01.060.
- Biesaga, Magdalena, & Pyrzynska, Krystyna. (2009). Liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry studies of the phenolic compounds in honey. *Journal of Chromatography A*, *1216*(38), 6620-6626. doi: 10.1016/j.chroma.2009.07.066.
- Blasa, M., Candiracci, M., Accorsi, A., Piacentini, M.P., Albertini, M.C., & Piatti, E. (2006). Raw Millefiori honey is packed full of antioxidants. *Food Chemistry*, 97(2), 217-222.
- Bogdanov, S, & Baumann, E. (1988). Determination of sugar composition of honeys by HPLC. *Mitt Geb Lebensm Hyg*, *79*, 198-206.
- Bogdanov, S., Jurendic, T., Sieber, R., & Gallmann, P. (2008). Honey for Nutrition and Health: A Review. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 27(6), 677-689.
- Brand-Williams, W., Cuvelier, ME, & Berset, C. (1995). Use of a free radical method to evaluate antioxidant activity. *Lwt-Food Science and Technology*, 28(1), 25-30.
- Castro-Vázquez, L., Díaz-Maroto, M. C., González-Viñas, M. A., & Pérez-Coello, M. S. (2009). Differentiation of monofloral citrus, rosemary, eucalyptus, lavender, thyme and heather honeys based on volatile composition and sensory descriptive analysis. *Food Chemistry*, 112(4), 1022-1030. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2008.06.036.
- Chataway, HD. (1932). The determination of moisture in honey. *Canadian Journal of Research*, 6(5), 532-547.
- Chen, L., Mehta, A., Berenbaum, M., Zangerl, A.R., & Engeseth, N.J. (2000). Honeys from different floral sources as inhibitors of enzymatic browning in fruit and vegetable homogenates. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 48(10), 4997-5000.
- Chepulis, L.M. (2007). The effects of honey compared with sucrose and a sugar-free diet on neutrophil phagocytosis and lymphocyte numbers after long-term feeding in rats. *Journal of Complementary and Integrative Medicine*, 4(1), 1-7.
- Cherbuliez, T. (2001). The Medicine from the Bees. [CD-ROM]. CD-ROM, Apimondia.
- Chirife, J., Zamora, M.C., & Motto, A. (2006). The correlation between water activity and % moisture in honey: Fundamental aspects and application to Argentine honeys. *Journal of Food Engineering*, *72*(3), 287-292.
- Cuevas-Glory, L.F., Pino, J.A., Santiago, L.S., & Sauri-Duch, E. (2007). A review of volatile analytical methods for determining the botanical origin of honey. *Food Chemistry*, 103(3), 1032-1043.
- De Rijke, Eva, de Kanter, Frans, Ariese, Freek, Brinkman, Udo A. Th, & Gooijer, Cees. (2004). Liquid chromatography coupled to nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy for the identification of isoflavone glucoside malonates in T. pratense

L. leaves. *Journal of Separation Science*, *27*(13), 1061-1070. doi: 10.1002/jssc.200401844.

- Doner, L.W. (1977). The sugars of honey—a review. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 28(5), 443-456.
- Echigo, T., & Takenaka, T. (1974). Production of organic acids in honey by honeybees. Journal of the Agricultural Chemical Society of Japan, 48.
- Erlund, Iris. (2004). Review of the flavonoids quercetin, hesperetin, and naringenin. Dietary sources, bioactivities, bioavailability, and epidemiology. *Nutrition Research*, 24(10), 851-874.
- Estevinho, Letícia, Pereira, Ana Paula, Moreira, Leandro, Dias, Luís G, & Pereira, Ermelinda. (2008). Antioxidant and antimicrobial effects of phenolic compounds extracts of Northeast Portugal honey. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *46*(12), 3774-3779.
- Finola, M.S., Lasagno, M.C., & Marioli, J.M. (2007). Microbiological and chemical characterization of honeys from central Argentina. *Food Chemistry*, 100(4), 1649-1653.
- Frankel, S., Robinson, GE, & Berenbaum, MR. (1998). Antioxidant capacity and correlated characteristics of 14 unifloral honeys. *Journal of Apicultural Research*, 37(1), 27-31.
- Gattuso, G., Caristi, C., Gargiulli, C., Bellocco, E., Toscano, G., & Leuzzi, U. (2006). Flavonoid glycosides in bergamot juice (Citrus bergamia risso). [Article]. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 54(11), 3929-3935. doi: 10.1021/jf060348z.
- Gerster, H. (1989). Antioxidant vitamins in cataract prevention. Zeitschrift für Ernährungswissenschaft, 28(1), 56-75.
- Gheldof, N., Wang, X.H., & Engeseth, N.J. (2003). Buckwheat honey increases serum antioxidant capacity in humans. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 51(5), 1500-1505.
- Glavind, J. (1963). Antioxidants in animal tissue. Acta chem. scand, 17(6), 1635-1640.
- Gómez-Caravaca, A. M., Gómez-Romero, M., Arráez-Román, D., Segura-Carretero, A., & Fernández-Gutiérrez, A. (2006). Advances in the analysis of phenolic compounds in products derived from bees. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis*, 41(4), 1220-1234. doi: 10.1016/j.jpba.2006.03.002.
- Gonzales, Adriana Pereyra, Burin, Leila, & Buera, María del Pilar. (1999). Color changes during storage of honeys in relation to their composition and initial color. *Food Research International*, 32(3), 185-191.

- Gorji, A., & Khaleghi Ghadiri, M. (2001). History of epilepsy in Medieval Iranian medicine. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 25(5), 455-461.
- Hadjmohammadi, M. R., Saman, S., & Nazari, S. J. (2010). Separation optimization of quercetin, hesperetin and chrysin in honey by micellar liquid chromatography and experimental design. [Article]. *Journal of Separation Science*, 33(20), 3144-3151. doi: 10.1002/jssc.201000326.
- Halliwell, Barry. (1996). Commentary oxidative stress, nutrition and health. Experimental strategies for optimization of nutritional antioxidant intake in humans. [Letter]. *Free radical research*, 25(1), 57-74.
- Halliwell, Barry, & Aruoma, Okezie I. (1991). DNA damage by oxygen-derived species Its mechanism and measurement in mammalian systems. [Letter]. *FEBS letters*, 281(1), 9-19.
- Halliwell, Barry., & Gutteridge, J. M. C. (1995). The definition and measurement of antioxidants in biological-systems. [Letter]. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 18(1), 125-126. doi: 10.1016/0891-5849(95)91457-3.
- Heidari, Tooba, Roozbahani, Nasrin, Amiri Farahani, Leila, Attarha, Mahtab, Akbari Torkestani, Naeimeh, Jamilian, Mehri, & Bekhradi, Reza. (2013). Does Iranian Astragalus gossypinus honey assist in healing caesarean wounds and scars? *European Journal of Integrative Medicine*, 5(3), 226-233. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eujim.2013.01.005.
- Hertog, M.G.L., Feskens, E.J.M., Kromhout, D., Hollman, PCH, & Katan, MB. (1993). Dietary antioxidant flavonoids and risk of coronary heart disease: the Zutphen Elderly Study. *The Lancet*, *342*(8878), 1007-1011.
- INC., NC). SAS INSTITUTE. (1985). SAS user's guide: statistics, version 5 edition.
- ISIRI, Institute of Standards and Industrial Research of IRAN. (2002).
- Iurlina, Miriam O., Saiz, Amelia I., Fritz, Rosalía, & Manrique, Guillermo D. (2009). Major flavonoids of Argentinean honeys. Optimisation of the extraction method and analysis of their content in relationship to the geographical source of honeys. *Food Chemistry*, 115(3), 1141-1149. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2009.01.003.
- Iverson, J.L., & Bueno, M.P. (1981). Evaluation of high pressure liquid chromatography and gas-liquid chromatography for quantitative determination of sugars in foods. *Journal-Association of Official Analytical Chemists*, 64(1), 139.
- Jaganathan, S. K., & Mandal, M. (2009). Antiproliferative Effects of Honey and of Its Polyphenols: A Review. [Review]. *Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology*. doi: 83061610.1155/2009/830616.
- Jasicka-Misiak, Izabela, Poliwoda, Anna, Dereń, Małgorzata, & Kafarski, Paweł. (2012). Phenolic compounds and abscisic acid as potential markers for the floral origin of

two Polish unifloral honeys. Food Chemistry, 131(4), 1149-1156.

- Jeffrey, A.E., & Echazarreta, C.M. (1996). Medical uses of honey. *Rev Biomed*, 7(1), 43-49.
- Kato, Y., Okada, S., Atobe, K., Endo, T., Matsubara, F., Oguma, T., & Haraguchi, K. (2009). Simultaneous Determination by APCI-LC/MS/MS of Hydroxylated and Methoxylated Polybrominated Diphenyl Ethers Found in Marine Biota. [Article]. *Analytical Chemistry*, *81*(14), 5942-5948. doi: 10.1021/ac9009885.
- Kris-Etherton, P.M., Harris, W.S., & Appel, L.J. (2002). Fish consumption, fish oil, omega-3 fatty acids, and cardiovascular disease. *circulation*, 106(21), 2747-2757.
- Kunnumakkara, Ajaikumar B, Anand, Preetha, & Aggarwal, Bharat B. (2008). Curcumin inhibits proliferation, invasion, angiogenesis and metastasis of different cancers through interaction with multiple cell signaling proteins. *Cancer letters*, 269(2), 199-225.
- Liang, Yan, Cao, Wei, Chen, Wei-jun, Xiao, Xue-hong, & Zheng, Jian-bin. (2009). Simultaneous determination of four phenolic components in citrus honey by high performance liquid chromatography using electrochemical detection. *Food Chemistry*, 114(4), 1537-1541. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2008.11.024.
- Lin, H., Huang, E.Y., Chang, H.Y., & ChangChien, C.C. (2005). Therapeutic effect of topical applications of trichloroacetic acid for vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia after hysterectomy. *Japanese journal of clinical oncology*, 35(11), 651-654.
- Makawi, S.Z.A., Gadkariem, E.A., & Ayoub, S.M.H. (2009). Determination of antioxidant flavonoids in Sudanese honey samples by solid phase extraction and high performance liquid chromatography. *Journal of Chemistry*, *6*(S1), S429-S437.
- Martos, I., Ferreres, F., Yao, L., D'Arcy, B., Caffin, N., & Tomás-Barberán, F.A. (2000). Flavonoids in monospecific Eucalyptus honeys from Australia. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 48(10), 4744-4748.
- McKibben, J., & Engeseth, N. J. (2002). Honey as a protective agent against lipid oxidation in ground turkey. [Article]. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 50(3), 592-595. doi: 10.1021/jf010820a.
- Mirsaleh Kohan, N., Robertson, W.D., & Compton, R.N. (2008). Electron ionization time - of - flight mass spectrometry: Historical review and current applications. *Mass spectrometry reviews*, 27(3), 237-285.
- Molnár-Perl, I. (2000). Role of chromatography in the analysis of sugars, carboxylic acids and amino acids in food. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 891(1), 1-32.
- Montenegro, Gabriel, & Castelluccia, Claude. (2002). *Statistically unique and cryptographically verifiable (SUCV) identifiers and addresses.* Paper presented at the In Proceedings of the 9th Annual Network and Distributed System Security

Symposium (NDSS.

- Mundo, M.A., Padilla-Zakour, O.I., & Worobo, R.W. (2004). Growth inhibition of foodborne pathogens and food spoilage organisms by select raw honeys. *International journal of food microbiology*, *97*(1), 1-8.
- Nagai, T., Inoue, R., Kanamori, N., Suzuki, N., & Nagashima, T. (2006). Characterization of honey from different floral sources. Its functional properties and effects of honey species on storage of meat. *Food Chemistry*, 97(2), 256-262.
- Pérez, R.A., Iglesias, M.T., Pueyo, E., González, M., & de Lorenzo, C. (2007). Amino acid composition and antioxidant capacity of Spanish honeys. *Journal of Agricultural* and Food Chemistry, 55(2), 360-365.
- Peterson, J., & Dwyer, J. (1998). Flavonoids: dietary occurrence and biochemical activity. *Nutrition Research*, 18(12), 1995-2018.
- Pfeuty, B., Mato, G., Golomb, D., & Hansel, D. (2003). Electrical synapses and synchrony: the role of intrinsic currents. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(15), 6280-6294.
- Pikulski, M., Aguilar, A., & Brodbelt, J.S. (2007). Tunable transition metal-ligand complexation for enhanced elucidation of flavonoid diglycosides by electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry*, 18(3), 422-431.
- Raji, A. M., & Ajasin, F. O. (2006). Performance characteristics of broiler-chicken fed different energy rations with or without honey water. [Meeting Abstract]. *Poultry Science*, 85, 178-178.
- Rauha, J.P., Vuorela, H., & Kostiainen, R. (2001). Effect of eluent on the ionization efficiency of flavonoids by ion spray, atmospheric pressure chemical ionization, and atmospheric pressure photoionization mass spectrometry. *Journal of mass* spectrometry, 36(12), 1269-1280.
- Regalado, Erik L., Tolle, Sebastian, Pino, Jorge A., Winterhalter, Peter, Menendez, Roberto, Morales, Ana R., & Rodríguez, José L. (2011). Isolation and identification of phenolic compounds from rum aged in oak barrels by high-speed countercurrent chromatography/high-performance liquid chromatography-diode array detectionelectrospray ionization mass spectrometry and screening for antioxidant activity. *Journal of Chromatography A*, *1218*(41), 7358-7364. doi: 10.1016/j.chroma.2011.08.068.
- Ruiz-Navajas, Y., Viuda-Martos, M., Fernandez-Lopez, J., Zaldivar-Cruz, J.M., Kuri, V., & Perez-Alvarez, J.A. (2011). Antioxidant activity of artisanal honey from Tabasco, Mexico. *International Journal of Food Properties*, 14(2), 459-470.

- Sagdic, O., Silici, S., & Ekici, L. (2012). Evaluation of the Phenolic Content, Antiradical, Antioxidant and Antimicrobial Activity of Different Floral Sources of Honey. *International Journal of Food Properties*(just-accepted).
- Saleh Nezhad, Saleh., Kamaruddin Mohd. Yusoff. (2010). A preliminary study on antioxidant activity of selected Iranian honeys. *Journal of ApiProduct and ApiMedical Science* 2(1), 60.
- Schieber, Andreas, Keller, Petra, & Carle, Reinhold. (2001). Determination of phenolic acids and flavonoids of apple and pear by high-performance liquid chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 910(2), 265-273. doi: 10.1016/s0021-9673(00)01217-6.
- Schley, PD, & Field, CJ. (2002). The immune-enhancing effects of dietary fibres and prebiotics. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 87(2), 221-230.
- Sedigheh, A., Jamal, M.S., Mahbubeh, S., Somayeh, K., Mahmoud, R., Azadeh, A., & Fatemeh, S. (2011). Hypoglycaemic and hypolipidemic effects of pumpkin (Cucurbita pepo L.) on alloxan-induced diabetic rats. *African Journal of Pharmacy* and Pharmacology, 5(23), 2620-2626.
- Seo, A., & Morr, CV. (1984). Improved high-performance liquid chromatographic analysis of phenolic acids and isoflavonoids from soybean protein products. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 32(3), 530-533.
- Simon, Arne, Traynor, Kirsten, Santos, Kai, Blaser, Gisela, Bode, Udo, & Molan, Peter. (2009). Medical honey for wound care—still the 'latest resort'? *Evidence-based* complementary and alternative medicine, 6(2), 165-173.
- Singh, A. P., Wilson, T., Luthria, D., Freeman, M. R., Scott, R. M., Bilenker, D., . . . Vorsa, N. (2011). LC-MS-MS characterisation of curry leaf flavonols and antioxidant activity. [Article]. *Food Chemistry*, 127(1), 80-85. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.12.091.
- Smirnov, Sergey V, Robertson, TP, Ward, JP, & Aaronson, PHILIP I. (1994). Chronic hypoxia is associated with reduced delayed rectifier K+ current in rat pulmonary artery muscle cells. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 266(1), H365-H370.
- Stobiecki, M., Staszkow, A., Piasecka, A., Garcia-Lopez, P. M., Zamora-Natera, F., & Kachlicki, P. (2010). LC-MSMS Profiling of Flavonoid Conjugates in Wild Mexican Lupine, Lupinus reflexus. [Article]. *Journal of Natural Products*, 73(7), 1254-1260. doi: 10.1021/np100139d.
- Taormina, P.J., Niemira, B.A., & Beuchat, L.R. (2001). Inhibitory activity of honey against foodborne pathogens as influenced by the presence of hydrogen peroxide and level of antioxidant power. *International journal of food microbiology*, *69*(3), 217-225.

- Van Der Hagen, Anita M, Yolton, DP, Kaminski, MS, & Yolton, RL. (1993). Free radicals and antioxidant supplementation: a review of their roles in age-related macular degeneration. *Journal of the American Optometric Association*, 64(12), 871.
- Wahdan, H.A.L. (1998). Causes of the antimicrobial activity of honey. *Infection, 26*(1), 26-31.
- Wana, A. (1997). Oxygen free radicals impair wound healing in ischemic rats. Ann Plast Surg, 39(5), 516-523.
- Wang, XH, Gheldof, N., & Engeseth, NJ. (2004). Effect of processing and storage on antioxidant capacity of honey. *Journal of Food Science*, 69(2), fct96-fct101.
- Wedmore, EB. (1955). The accurate determination of the water content of honeys. *Bee World*, *36*(11), 197-206.
- White, DC, Davis, WM, Nickels, JS, King, JD, & Bobbie, RJ. (1979). Determination of the sedimentary microbial biomass by extractible lipid phosphate. *Oecologia*, 40(1), 51-62.
- Yao, L.H., Jiang, YM, Shi, J., Tomas-Barberan, FA, Datta, N., Singanusong, R., & Chen, SS. (2004). Flavonoids in food and their health benefits. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition (Formerly Qualitas Plantarum)*, 59(3), 113-122.
- Yeh, C.T., & Yen, G.C. (2005). Effect of vegetables on human phenolsulfotransferases in relation to their antioxidant activity and total phenolics. *Free radical research*, 39(8), 893-904.
- Zainol, Mohd Izwan, Yusoff, Kamaruddin Mohd, & Yusof, Mohd Yasim Mohd. (2013). Antibacterial activity of selected Malaysian honey. *Bmc Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 13*(1), 129.
- Ziegler, E.J., Fisher Jr, C.J., Sprung, C.L., Straube, R.C., Sadoff, J.C., Foulke, G.E., . . . Teng, N.N.H. (1991). Treatment of gram-negative bacteremia and septic shock with HA-1A human monoclonal antibody against endotoxin. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 324(7), 429-436.